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PART 1 
 

One morning, when Gregor Samsa woke from 
troubled dreams, he found himself transformed in 
his bed into a horrible vermin. He lay on his armor-
like back, and if he lifted his head a little he could 
see his brown belly, slightly domed and divided by 5 
arches into stiff sections. The bedding was hardly 
able to cover it and seemed ready to slide off any 
moment. His many legs, pitifully thin compared 
with the size of the rest of him, waved about 
helplessly as he looked. 10 

“What’s happened to me?” he thought. It 
wasn’t a dream. His room, a proper human room 
although a little too small, lay peacefully between 
its four familiar walls. A collection of textile 
samples lay spread out on the table—Samsa was a 15 
travelling salesman—and above it there hung a 
picture that he had recently cut out of an 
illustrated magazine and housed in a nice, gilded 
frame. It showed a lady fitted out with a fur hat and 
fur boa who sat upright, raising a heavy fur muff 20 
that covered the whole of her lower arm towards 
the viewer. 

Gregor then turned to look out the window 
at the dull weather. Drops of rain could be heard 
hitting the pane, which made him feel quite sad. 25 
“How about if I sleep a little bit longer and forget all 
this nonsense”, he thought, but that was 
something he was unable to do because he was 
used to sleeping on his right, and in his present 
state couldn’t get into that position. However hard 30 
he threw himself onto his right, he always rolled 
back to where he was. He must have tried it a 
hundred times, shut his eyes so that he wouldn’t 
have to look at the floundering legs, and only 
stopped when he began to feel a mild, dull pain 35 
there that he had never felt before. 

“Oh, God”, he thought, “what a strenuous 
career it is that I’ve chosen! Travelling day in and 
day out. Doing business like this takes much more 
effort than doing your own business at home, and 40 
on top of that there’s the curse of travelling, 
worries about making train connections, bad and 
irregular food, contact with different people all the 
time so that you can never get to know anyone or 
become friendly with them. It can all go to Hell!” 45 
He felt a slight itch up on his belly; pushed himself 
slowly up on his back towards the headboard so 

that he could lift his head better; found where the 
itch was, and saw that it was covered with lots of 
little white spots which he didn’t know what to 50 
make of; and when he tried to feel the place with 
one of his legs he drew it quickly back because as 
soon as he touched it he was overcome by a cold 
shudder. 

He slid back into his former position. “Getting 55 
up early all the time”, he thought, “it makes you 
stupid. You’ve got to get enough sleep. Other 
travelling salesmen live a life of luxury. For 
instance, whenever I go back to the guest house 
during the morning to copy out the contract, these 60 
gentlemen are always still sitting there eating their 
breakfasts. I ought to just try that with my boss; I’d 
get kicked out on the spot. But who knows, maybe 
that would be the best thing for me. If I didn’t have 
my parents to think about I’d have given in my 65 
notice a long time ago, I’d have gone up to the boss 
and told him just what I think, tell him everything I 
would, let him know just what I feel. He’d fall right 
off his desk! And it’s a funny sort of business to be 
sitting up there at your desk, talking down at your 70 
subordinates from up there, especially when you 
have to go right up close because the boss is hard 
of hearing. Well, there’s still some hope; once I’ve 
got the money together to pay off my parents’ debt 
to him—another five or six years I suppose—that’s 75 
definitely what I’ll do. That’s when I’ll make the big 
change. First of all though, I’ve got to get up, my 
train leaves at five.” 

And he looked over at the alarm clock, ticking 
on the chest of drawers. “God in Heaven!” he 80 
thought. It was half past six and the hands were 
quietly moving forwards, it was even later than half 
past, more like quarter to seven. Had the alarm 
clock not rung? He could see from the bed that it 
had been set for four o’clock as it should have 85 
been; it certainly must have rung. Yes, but was it 
possible to quietly sleep through that furniture-
rattling noise? True, he had not slept peacefully, 
but probably all the more deeply because of that. 
What should he do now? The next train went at 90 
seven; if he were to catch that he would have to 
rush like mad and the collection of samples was still 
not packed, and he did not at all feel particularly 
fresh and lively. And even if he did catch the train 
he would not avoid his boss’s anger as the office 95 
assistant would have been there to see the five 
o’clock train go, he would have put in his report 
about Gregor’s not being there a long time ago. The 
office assistant was the boss’s man, spineless, and 
with no understanding. What about if he reported 100 



sick? But that would be extremely strained and 
suspicious as in five years of service Gregor had 
never once yet been ill. His boss would certainly 
come round with the doctor from the medical 
insurance company, accuse his parents of having a 105 
lazy son, and accept the doctor’s recommendation 
not to make any claim as the doctor believed that 
no-one was ever ill but that many were workshy. 
And what’s more, would he have been entirely 
wrong in this case? Gregor did in fact, apart from 110 
excessive sleepiness after sleeping for so long, feel 
completely well and even felt much hungrier than 
usual. 

He was still hurriedly thinking all this through, 
unable to decide to get out of the bed, when the 115 
clock struck quarter to seven. There was a cautious 
knock at the door near his head. “Gregor”, 
somebody called—it was his mother—“it’s quarter 
to seven. Didn’t you want to go somewhere?” That 
gentle voice! Gregor was shocked when he heard 120 
his own voice answering, it could hardly be 
recognised as the voice he had had before. As if 
from deep inside him, there was a painful and 
uncontrollable squeaking mixed in with it, the 
words could be made out at first but then there 125 
was a sort of echo which made them unclear, 
leaving the hearer unsure whether he had heard 
properly or not. Gregor had wanted to give a full 
answer and explain everything, but in the 
circumstances contented himself with saying: “Yes, 130 
mother, yes, thank-you, I’m getting up now.” The 
change in Gregor’s voice probably could not be 
noticed outside through the wooden door, as his 
mother was satisfied with this explanation and 
shuffled away. But this short conversation made 135 
the other members of the family aware that 
Gregor, against their expectations was still at 
home, and soon his father came knocking at one of 
the side doors, gently, but with his fist. “Gregor, 
Gregor”, he called, “what’s wrong?” And after a 140 
short while he called again with a warning 
deepness in his voice: “Gregor! Gregor!” At the 
other side door his sister came plaintively: 
“Gregor? Aren’t you well? Do you need anything?” 
Gregor answered to both sides: “I’m ready, now”, 145 
making an effort to remove all the strangeness 
from his voice by enunciating very carefully and 
putting long pauses between each, individual word. 
His father went back to his breakfast, but his sister 
whispered: “Gregor, open the door, I beg of you.” 150 
Gregor, however, had no thought of opening the 
door, and instead congratulated himself for his 
cautious habit, acquired from his travelling, of 

locking all doors at night even when he was at 
home. 155 

The first thing he wanted to do was to get up 
in peace without being disturbed, to get dressed, 
and most of all to have his breakfast. Only then 
would he consider what to do next, as he was well 
aware that he would not bring his thoughts to any 160 
sensible conclusions by lying in bed. He 
remembered that he had often felt a slight pain in 
bed, perhaps caused by lying awkwardly, but that 
had always turned out to be pure imagination and 
he wondered how his imaginings would slowly 165 
resolve themselves today. He did not have the 
slightest doubt that the change in his voice was 
nothing more than the first sign of a serious cold, 
which was an occupational hazard for travelling 
salesmen. 170 

It was a simple matter to throw off the 
covers; he only had to blow himself up a little and 
they fell off by themselves. But it became difficult 
after that, especially as he was so exceptionally 
broad. He would have used his arms and his hands 175 
to push himself up; but instead of them he only had 
all those little legs continuously moving in different 
directions, and which he was moreover unable to 
control. If he wanted to bend one of them, then 
that was the first one that would stretch itself out; 180 
and if he finally managed to do what he wanted 
with that leg, all the others seemed to be set free 
and would move about painfully. “This is something 
that can’t be done in bed”, Gregor said to himself, 
“so don’t keep trying to do it”. 185 

The first thing he wanted to do was get the 
lower part of his body out of the bed, but he had 
never seen this lower part, and could not imagine 
what it looked like; it turned out to be too hard to 
move; it went so slowly; and finally, almost in a 190 
frenzy, when he carelessly shoved himself forwards 
with all the force he could gather, he chose the 
wrong direction, hit hard against the lower 
bedpost, and learned from the burning pain he felt 
that the lower part of his body might well, at 195 
present, be the most sensitive. 

So then he tried to get the top part of his 
body out of the bed first, carefully turning his head 
to the side. This he managed quite easily, and 
despite its breadth and its weight, the bulk of his 200 
body eventually followed slowly in the direction of 
the head. But when he had at last got his head out 
of the bed and into the fresh air it occurred to him 
that if he let himself fall it would be a miracle if his 
head were not injured, so he became afraid to 205 
carry on pushing himself forward the same way. 



And he could not knock himself out now at any 
price; better to stay in bed than lose consciousness. 

It took just as much effort to get back to 
where he had been earlier, but when he lay there 210 
sighing, and was once more watching his legs as 
they struggled against each other even harder than 
before, if that was possible, he could think of no 
way of bringing peace and order to this chaos. He 
told himself once more that it was not possible for 215 
him to stay in bed and that the most sensible thing 
to do would be to get free of it in whatever way he 
could at whatever sacrifice. At the same time, 
though, he did not forget to remind himself that 
calm consideration was much better than rushing 220 
to desperate conclusions. At times like this he 
would direct his eyes to the window and look out 
as clearly as he could, but unfortunately, even the 
other side of the narrow street was enveloped in 
morning fog and the view had little confidence or 225 
cheer to offer him. “Seven o’clock, already”, he said 
to himself when the clock struck again, “seven 
o’clock, and there’s still a fog like this.” And he lay 
there quietly a while longer, breathing lightly as if 
he perhaps expected the total stillness to bring 230 
things back to their real and natural state. 

But then he said to himself: “Before it strikes 
quarter past seven I’ll definitely have to have got 
properly out of bed. And by then somebody will 
have come round from work to ask what’s 235 
happened to me as well, as they open up at work 
before seven o’clock.” And so he set himself to the 
task of swinging the entire length of his body out of 
the bed all at the same time. If he succeeded in 
falling out of bed in this way and kept his head 240 
raised as he did so he could probably avoid injuring 
it. His back seemed to be quite hard, and probably 
nothing would happen to it falling onto the carpet. 
His main concern was for the loud noise he was 
bound to make, and which even through all the 245 
doors would probably raise concern if not alarm. 
But it was something that had to be risked. 

When Gregor was already sticking half way 
out of the bed—the new method was more of a 
game than an effort, all he had to do was rock back 250 
and forth—it occurred to him how simple 
everything would be if somebody came to help 
him. Two strong people—he had his father and the 
maid in mind—would have been more than 
enough; they would only have to push their arms 255 
under the dome of his back, peel him away from 
the bed, bend down with the load and then be 
patient and careful as he swang over onto the floor, 
where, hopefully, the little legs would find a use. 

Should he really call for help though, even apart 260 
from the fact that all the doors were locked? 
Despite all the difficulty he was in, he could not 
suppress a smile at this thought. 

After a while he had already moved so far 
across that it would have been hard for him to keep 265 
his balance if he rocked too hard. The time was 
now ten past seven and he would have to make a 
final decision very soon. Then there was a ring at 
the door of the flat. “That’ll be someone from 
work”, he said to himself, and froze very still, 270 
although his little legs only became all the more 
lively as they danced around. For a moment 
everything remained quiet. “They’re not opening 
the door”, Gregor said to himself, caught in some 
nonsensical hope. But then of course, the maid’s 275 
firm steps went to the door as ever and opened it. 
Gregor only needed to hear the visitor’s first words 
of greeting and he knew who it was—the chief 
clerk himself. Why did Gregor have to be the only 
one condemned to work for a company where they 280 
immediately became highly suspicious at the 
slightest shortcoming? Were all employees, every 
one of them, louts, was there not one of them who 
was faithful and devoted who would go so mad 
with pangs of conscience that he couldn’t get out 285 
of bed if he didn’t spend at least a couple of hours 
in the morning on company business? Was it really 
not enough to let one of the trainees make 
enquiries—assuming enquiries were even 
necessary—did the chief clerk have to come 290 
himself, and did they have to show the whole, 
innocent family that this was so suspicious that 
only the chief clerk could be trusted to have the 
wisdom to investigate it? And more because these 
thoughts had made him upset than through any 295 
proper decision, he swang himself with all his force 
out of the bed. There was a loud thump, but it 
wasn’t really a loud noise. His fall was softened a 
little by the carpet, and Gregor’s back was also 
more elastic than he had thought, which made the 300 
sound muffled and not too noticeable. He had not 
held his head carefully enough, though, and hit it as 
he fell; annoyed and in pain, he turned it and 
rubbed it against the carpet. 

“Something’s fallen down in there”, said the 305 
chief clerk in the room on the left. Gregor tried to 
imagine whether something of the sort that had 
happened to him today could ever happen to the 
chief clerk too; you had to concede that it was 
possible. But as if in gruff reply to this question, the 310 
chief clerk’s firm footsteps in his highly polished 
boots could now be heard in the adjoining room. 



From the room on his right, Gregor’s sister 
whispered to him to let him know: “Gregor, the 
chief clerk is here.” “Yes, I know”, said Gregor to 315 
himself; but without daring to raise his voice loud 
enough for his sister to hear him. 

“Gregor”, said his father now from the room 
to his left, “the chief clerk has come round and 
wants to know why you didn’t leave on the early 320 
train. We don’t know what to say to him. And 
anyway, he wants to speak to you personally. So 
please open up this door. I’m sure he’ll be good 
enough to forgive the untidiness of your room.” 
Then the chief clerk called “Good morning, Mr. 325 
Samsa”. “He isn’t well”, said his mother to the chief 
clerk, while his father continued to speak through 
the door. “He isn’t well, please believe me. Why 
else would Gregor have missed a train! The lad only 
ever thinks about the business. It nearly makes me 330 
cross the way he never goes out in the evenings; 
he’s been in town for a week now but stayed home 
every evening. He sits with us in the kitchen and 
just reads the paper or studies train timetables. His 
idea of relaxation is working with his fretsaw. He’s 335 
made a little frame, for instance, it only took him 
two or three evenings, you’ll be amazed how nice it 
is; it’s hanging up in his room; you’ll see it as soon 
as Gregor opens the door. Anyway, I’m glad you’re 
here; we wouldn’t have been able to get Gregor to 340 
open the door by ourselves; he’s so stubborn; and 
I’m sure he isn’t well, he said this morning that he 
is, but he isn’t.” “I’ll be there in a moment”, said 
Gregor slowly and thoughtfully, but without moving 
so that he would not miss any word of the 345 
conversation. “Well I can’t think of any other way 
of explaining it, Mrs. Samsa”, said the chief clerk, “I 
hope it’s nothing serious. But on the other hand, I 
must say that if we people in commerce ever 
become slightly unwell then, fortunately or 350 
unfortunately as you like, we simply have to 
overcome it because of business considerations.” 
“Can the chief clerk come in to see you now then?”, 
asked his father impatiently, knocking at the door 
again. “No”, said Gregor. In the room on his right 355 
there followed a painful silence; in the room on his 
left his sister began to cry. 

So why did his sister not go and join the 
others? She had probably only just got up and had 
not even begun to get dressed. And why was she 360 
crying? Was it because he had not got up, and had 
not let the chief clerk in, because he was in danger 
of losing his job and if that happened his boss 
would once more pursue their parents with the 
same demands as before? There was no need to 365 

worry about things like that yet. Gregor was still 
there and had not the slightest intention of 
abandoning his family. For the time being he just 
lay there on the carpet, and no-one who knew the 
condition he was in would seriously have expected 370 
him to let the chief clerk in. It was only a minor 
discourtesy, and a suitable excuse could easily be 
found for it later on, it was not something for which 
Gregor could be sacked on the spot. And it seemed 
to Gregor much more sensible to leave him now in 375 
peace instead of disturbing him with talking at him 
and crying. But the others didn’t know what was 
happening, they were worried, that would excuse 
their behaviour. 

The chief clerk now raised his voice, “Mr. 380 
Samsa”, he called to him, “what is wrong? You 
barricade yourself in your room, give us no more 
than yes or no for an answer, you are causing 
serious and unnecessary concern to your parents 
and you fail—and I mention this just by the way—385 
you fail to carry out your business duties in a way 
that is quite unheard of. I’m speaking here on 
behalf of your parents and of your employer, and 
really must request a clear and immediate 
explanation. I am astonished, quite astonished. I 390 
thought I knew you as a calm and sensible person, 
and now you suddenly seem to be showing off with 
peculiar whims. This morning, your employer did 
suggest a possible reason for your failure to 
appear, it’s true—it had to do with the money that 395 
was recently entrusted to you—but I came near to 
giving him my word of honour that that could not 
be the right explanation. But now that I see your 
incomprehensible stubbornness I no longer feel any 
wish whatsoever to intercede on your behalf. And 400 
nor is your position all that secure. I had originally 
intended to say all this to you in private, but since 
you cause me to waste my time here for no good 
reason I don’t see why your parents should not also 
learn of it. Your turnover has been very 405 
unsatisfactory of late; I grant you that it’s not the 
time of year to do especially good business, we 
recognise that; but there simply is no time of year 
to do no business at all, Mr. Samsa, we cannot 
allow there to be.” 410 

“But Sir”, called Gregor, beside himself and 
forgetting all else in the excitement, “I’ll open up 
immediately, just a moment. I’m slightly unwell, an 
attack of dizziness, I haven’t been able to get up. 
I’m still in bed now. I’m quite fresh again now, 415 
though. I’m just getting out of bed. Just a moment. 
Be patient! It’s not quite as easy as I’d thought. I’m 
quite alright now, though. It’s shocking, what can 



suddenly happen to a person! I was quite alright 
last night, my parents know about it, perhaps 420 
better than me, I had a small symptom of it last 
night already. They must have noticed it. I don’t 
know why I didn’t let you know at work! But you 
always think you can get over an illness without 
staying at home. Please, don’t make my parents 425 
suffer! There’s no basis for any of the accusations 
you’re making; nobody’s ever said a word to me 
about any of these things. Maybe you haven’t read 
the latest contracts I sent in. I’ll set off with the 
eight o’clock train, as well, these few hours of rest 430 
have given me strength. You don’t need to wait, sir; 
I’ll be in the office soon after you, and please be so 
good as to tell that to the boss and recommend me 
to him!” 

And while Gregor gushed out these words, 435 
hardly knowing what he was saying, he made his 
way over to the chest of drawers—this was easily 
done, probably because of the practise he had 
already had in bed—where he now tried to get 
himself upright. He really did want to open the 440 
door, really did want to let them see him and to 
speak with the chief clerk; the others were being so 
insistent, and he was curious to learn what they 
would say when they caught sight of him. If they 
were shocked then it would no longer be Gregor’s 445 
responsibility and he could rest. If, however, they 
took everything calmly he would still have no 
reason to be upset, and if he hurried he really could 
be at the station for eight o’clock. The first few 
times he tried to climb up on the smooth chest of 450 
drawers he just slid down again, but he finally gave 
himself one last swing and stood there upright; the 
lower part of his body was in serious pain but he no 
longer gave any attention to it. Now he let himself 
fall against the back of a nearby chair and held 455 
tightly to the edges of it with his little legs. By now 
he had also calmed down, and kept quiet so that he 
could listen to what the chief clerk was saying. 

“Did you understand a word of all that?” the 
chief clerk asked his parents, “surely he’s not trying 460 
to make fools of us”. “Oh, God!” called his mother, 
who was already in tears, “he could be seriously ill 
and we’re making him suffer. Grete! Grete!” she 
then cried. “Mother?” his sister called from the 
other side. They communicated across Gregor’s 465 
room. “You’ll have to go for the doctor straight 
away. Gregor is ill. Quick, get the doctor. Did you 
hear the way Gregor spoke just now?” “That was 
the voice of an animal”, said the chief clerk, with a 
calmness that was in contrast with his mother’s 470 
screams. “Anna! Anna!” his father called into the 

kitchen through the entrance hall, clapping his 
hands, “get a locksmith here, now!” And the two 
girls, their skirts swishing, immediately ran out 
through the hall, wrenching open the front door of 475 
the flat as they went. How had his sister managed 
to get dressed so quickly? There was no sound of 
the door banging shut again; they must have left it 
open; people often do in homes where something 
awful has happened. 480 

Gregor, in contrast, had become much 
calmer. So they couldn’t understand his words any 
more, although they seemed clear enough to him, 
clearer than before—perhaps his ears had become 
used to the sound. They had realised, though, that 485 
there was something wrong with him, and were 
ready to help. The first response to his situation 
had been confident and wise, and that made him 
feel better. He felt that he had been drawn back in 
among people, and from the doctor and the 490 
locksmith he expected great and surprising 
achievements—although he did not really 
distinguish one from the other. Whatever was said 
next would be crucial, so, in order to make his voice 
as clear as possible, he coughed a little, but taking 495 
care to do this not too loudly as even this might 
well sound different from the way that a human 
coughs and he was no longer sure he could judge 
this for himself. Meanwhile, it had become very 
quiet in the next room. Perhaps his parents were 500 
sat at the table whispering with the chief clerk, or 
perhaps they were all pressed against the door and 
listening. 

Gregor slowly pushed his way over to the 
door with the chair. Once there he let go of it and 505 
threw himself onto the door, holding himself 
upright against it using the adhesive on the tips of 
his legs. He rested there a little while to recover 
from the effort involved and then set himself to the 
task of turning the key in the lock with his mouth. 510 
He seemed, unfortunately, to have no proper 
teeth—how was he, then, to grasp the key?—but 
the lack of teeth was, of course, made up for with a 
very strong jaw; using the jaw, he really was able to 
start the key turning, ignoring the fact that he must 515 
have been causing some kind of damage as a 
brown fluid came from his mouth, flowed over the 
key and dripped onto the floor. “Listen”, said the 
chief clerk in the next room, “he’s turning the key.” 
Gregor was greatly encouraged by this; but they all 520 
should have been calling to him, his father and his 
mother too: “Well done, Gregor”, they should have 
cried, “keep at it, keep hold of the lock!” And with 
the idea that they were all excitedly following his 



efforts, he bit on the key with all his strength, 525 
paying no attention to the pain he was causing 
himself. As the key turned round he turned around 
the lock with it, only holding himself upright with 
his mouth, and hung onto the key or pushed it 
down again with the whole weight of his body as 530 
needed. The clear sound of the lock as it snapped 
back was Gregor’s sign that he could break his 
concentration, and as he regained his breath he 
said to himself: “So, I didn’t need the locksmith 
after all”. Then he lay his head on the handle of the 535 
door to open it completely. 

Because he had to open the door in this way, 
it was already wide open before he could be seen. 
He had first to slowly turn himself around one of 
the double doors, and he had to do it very carefully 540 
if he did not want to fall flat on his back before 
entering the room. He was still occupied with this 
difficult movement, unable to pay attention to 
anything else, when he heard the chief clerk 
exclaim a loud “Oh!”, which sounded like the 545 
soughing of the wind. Now he also saw him—he 
was the nearest to the door—his hand pressed 
against his open mouth and slowly retreating as if 
driven by a steady and invisible force. Gregor’s 
mother, her hair still dishevelled from bed despite 550 
the chief clerk’s being there, looked at his father. 
Then she unfolded her arms, took two steps 
forward towards Gregor and sank down onto the 
floor into her skirts that spread themselves out 
around her as her head disappeared down onto her 555 
breast. His father looked hostile, and clenched his 
fists as if wanting to knock Gregor back into his 
room. Then he looked uncertainly round the living 
room, covered his eyes with his hands and wept so 
that his powerful chest shook. 560 

So Gregor did not go into the room, but leant 
against the inside of the other door which was still 
held bolted in place. In this way only half of his 
body could be seen, along with his head above it 
which he leant over to one side as he peered out at 565 
the others. Meanwhile the day had become much 
lighter; part of the endless, grey-black building on 
the other side of the street—which was a 
hospital—could be seen quite clearly with the 
austere and regular line of windows piercing its 570 
façade; the rain was still falling, now throwing 
down large, individual droplets which hit the 
ground one at a time. The washing up from 
breakfast lay on the table; there was so much of it 
because, for Gregor’s father, breakfast was the 575 
most important meal of the day and he would 
stretch it out for several hours as he sat reading a 

number of different newspapers. On the wall 
exactly opposite there was photograph of Gregor 
when he was a lieutenant in the army, his sword in 580 
his hand and a carefree smile on his face as he 
called forth respect for his uniform and bearing. 
The door to the entrance hall was open and as the 
front door of the flat was also open he could see 
onto the landing and the stairs where they began 585 
their way down below. 

“Now, then”, said Gregor, well aware that he 
was the only one to have kept calm, “I’ll get 
dressed straight away now, pack up my samples 
and set off. Will you please just let me leave? You 590 
can see”, he said to the chief clerk, “that I’m not 
stubborn and I like to do my job; being a 
commercial traveller is arduous but without 
travelling I couldn’t earn my living. So where are 
you going, in to the office? Yes? Will you report 595 
everything accurately, then? It’s quite possible for 
someone to be temporarily unable to work, but 
that’s just the right time to remember what’s been 
achieved in the past and consider that later on, 
once the difficulty has been removed, he will 600 
certainly work with all the more diligence and 
concentration. You’re well aware that I’m seriously 
in debt to our employer as well as having to look 
after my parents and my sister, so that I’m trapped 
in a difficult situation, but I will work my way out of 605 
it again. Please don’t make things any harder for 
me than they are already, and don’t take sides 
against me at the office. I know that nobody likes 
the travellers. They think we earn an enormous 
wage as well as having a soft time of it. That’s just 610 
prejudice but they have no particular reason to 
think better of it. But you, sir, you have a better 
overview than the rest of the staff, in fact, if I can 
say this in confidence, a better overview than the 
boss himself—it’s very easy for a businessman like 615 
him to make mistakes about his employees and 
judge them more harshly than he should. And 
you’re also well aware that we travellers spend 
almost the whole year away from the office, so that 
we can very easily fall victim to gossip and chance 620 
and groundless complaints, and it’s almost 
impossible to defend yourself from that sort of 
thing, we don’t usually even hear about them, or if 
at all it’s when we arrive back home exhausted 
from a trip, and that’s when we feel the harmful 625 
effects of what’s been going on without even 
knowing what caused them. Please, don’t go away, 
at least first say something to show that you grant 
that I’m at least partly right!” 



But the chief clerk had turned away as soon 630 
as Gregor had started to speak, and, with 
protruding lips, only stared back at him over his 
trembling shoulders as he left. He did not keep still 
for a moment while Gregor was speaking, but 
moved steadily towards the door without taking his 635 
eyes off him. He moved very gradually, as if there 
had been some secret prohibition on leaving the 
room. It was only when he had reached the 
entrance hall that he made a sudden movement, 
drew his foot from the living room, and rushed 640 
forward in a panic. In the hall, he stretched his right 
hand far out towards the stairway as if out there, 
there were some supernatural force waiting to save 
him. 

Gregor realised that it was out of the 645 
question to let the chief clerk go away in this mood 
if his position in the firm was not to be put into 
extreme danger. That was something his parents 
did not understand very well; over the years, they 
had become convinced that this job would provide 650 
for Gregor for his entire life, and besides, they had 
so much to worry about at present that they had 
lost sight of any thought for the future. Gregor, 
though, did think about the future. The chief clerk 
had to be held back, calmed down, convinced and 655 
finally won over; the future of Gregor and his family 
depended on it! If only his sister were here! She 
was clever; she was already in tears while Gregor 
was still lying peacefully on his back. And the chief 
clerk was a lover of women, surely she could 660 
persuade him; she would close the front door in 
the entrance hall and talk him out of his shocked 
state. But his sister was not there, Gregor would 
have to do the job himself. And without 
considering that he still was not familiar with how 665 
well he could move about in his present state, or 
that his speech still might not—or probably would 
not—be understood, he let go of the door; pushed 
himself through the opening; tried to reach the 
chief clerk on the landing who, ridiculously, was 670 
holding on to the banister with both hands; but 
Gregor fell immediately over and, with a little 
scream as he sought something to hold onto, 
landed on his numerous little legs. Hardly had that 
happened than, for the first time that day, he 675 
began to feel alright with his body; the little legs 
had the solid ground under them; to his pleasure, 
they did exactly as he told them; they were even 
making the effort to carry him where he wanted to 
go; and he was soon believing that all his sorrows 680 
would soon be finally at an end. He held back the 
urge to move but swayed from side to side as he 

crouched there on the floor. His mother was not far 
away in front of him and seemed, at first, quite 
engrossed in herself, but then she suddenly jumped 685 
up with her arms outstretched and her fingers 
spread shouting: “Help, for pity’s sake, Help!” The 
way she held her head suggested she wanted to 
see Gregor better, but the unthinking way she was 
hurrying backwards showed that she did not; she 690 
had forgotten that the table was behind her with all 
the breakfast things on it; when she reached the 
table she sat quickly down on it without knowing 
what she was doing; without even seeming to 
notice that the coffee pot had been knocked over 695 
and a gush of coffee was pouring down onto the 
carpet. 

“Mother, mother”, said Gregor gently, 
looking up at her. He had completely forgotten the 
chief clerk for the moment, but could not help 700 
himself snapping in the air with his jaws at the sight 
of the flow of coffee. That set his mother screaming 
anew, she fled from the table and into the arms of 
his father as he rushed towards her. Gregor, 
though, had no time to spare for his parents now; 705 
the chief clerk had already reached the stairs; with 
his chin on the banister, he looked back for the last 
time. Gregor made a run for him; he wanted to be 
sure of reaching him; the chief clerk must have 
expected something, as he leapt down several 710 
steps at once and disappeared; his shouts 
resounding all around the staircase. The flight of 
the chief clerk seemed, unfortunately, to put 
Gregor’s father into a panic as well. Until then he 
had been relatively self controlled, but now, 715 
instead of running after the chief clerk himself, or 
at least not impeding Gregor as he ran after him, 
Gregor’s father seized the chief clerk’s stick in his 
right hand (the chief clerk had left it behind on a 
chair, along with his hat and overcoat), picked up a 720 
large newspaper from the table with his left, and 
used them to drive Gregor back into his room, 
stamping his foot at him as he went. Gregor’s 
appeals to his father were of no help, his appeals 
were simply not understood, however much he 725 
humbly turned his head his father merely stamped 
his foot all the harder. Across the room, despite the 
chilly weather, Gregor’s mother had pulled open a 
window, leant far out of it and pressed her hands 
to her face. A strong draught of air flew in from the 730 
street towards the stairway, the curtains flew up, 
the newspapers on the table fluttered and some of 
them were blown onto the floor. Nothing would 
stop Gregor’s father as he drove him back, making 
hissing noises at him like a wild man. Gregor had 735 



never had any practice in moving backwards and 
was only able to go very slowly. If Gregor had only 
been allowed to turn round he would have been 
back in his room straight away, but he was afraid 
that if he took the time to do that his father would 740 
become impatient, and there was the threat of a 
lethal blow to his back or head from the stick in his 
father’s hand any moment. Eventually, though, 
Gregor realised that he had no choice as he saw, to 
his disgust, that he was quite incapable of going 745 
backwards in a straight line; so he began, as quickly 
as possible and with frequent anxious glances at his 
father, to turn himself round. It went very slowly, 
but perhaps his father was able to see his good 
intentions as he did nothing to hinder him, in fact 750 
now and then he used the tip of his stick to give 
directions from a distance as to which way to turn. 
If only his father would stop that unbearable 
hissing! It was making Gregor quite confused. 
When he had nearly finished turning round, still 755 
listening to that hissing, he made a mistake and 
turned himself back a little the way he had just 
come. He was pleased when he finally had his head 
in front of the doorway, but then saw that it was 
too narrow, and his body was too broad to get 760 
through it without further difficulty. In his present 
mood, it obviously did not occur to his father to 
open the other of the double doors so that Gregor 
would have enough space to get through. He was 
merely fixed on the idea that Gregor should be got 765 
back into his room as quickly as possible. Nor 
would he ever have allowed Gregor the time to get 
himself upright as preparation for getting through 
the doorway. What he did, making more noise than 
ever, was to drive Gregor forwards all the harder as 770 
if there had been nothing in the way; it sounded to 
Gregor as if there was now more than one father 
behind him; it was not a pleasant experience, and 
Gregor pushed himself into the doorway without 
regard for what might happen. One side of his body 775 
lifted itself, he lay at an angle in the doorway, one 
flank scraped on the white door and was painfully 
injured, leaving vile brown flecks on it, soon he was 
stuck fast and would not have been able to move at 
all by himself, the little legs along one side hung 780 
quivering in the air while those on the other side 
were pressed painfully against the ground. Then his 
father gave him a hefty shove from behind which 
released him from where he was held and sent him 
flying, and heavily bleeding, deep into his room. 785 
The door was slammed shut with the stick, then, 
finally, all was quiet. 

 

* * * 
 

PART 2 
 

It was not until it was getting dark that 
evening that Gregor awoke from his deep and 
coma-like sleep. He would have woken soon 790 
afterwards anyway even if he hadn’t been 
disturbed, as he had had enough sleep and felt fully 
rested. But he had the impression that some 
hurried steps and the sound of the door leading 
into the front room being carefully shut had woken 795 
him. The light from the electric street lamps shone 
palely here and there onto the ceiling and tops of 
the furniture, but down below, where Gregor was, 
it was dark. He pushed himself over to the door, 
feeling his way clumsily with his antennae—of 800 
which he was now beginning to learn the value—in 
order to see what had been happening there. The 
whole of his left side seemed like one, painfully 
stretched scar, and he limped badly on his two 
rows of legs. One of the legs had been badly injured 805 
in the events of that morning—it was nearly a 
miracle that only one of them had been—and 
dragged along lifelessly. 

It was only when he had reached the door 
that he realised what it actually was that had 810 
drawn him over to it; it was the smell of something 
to eat. By the door there was a dish filled with 
sweetened milk with little pieces of white bread 
floating in it. He was so pleased he almost laughed, 
as he was even hungrier than he had been that 815 
morning, and immediately dipped his head into the 
milk, nearly covering his eyes with it. But he soon 
drew his head back again in disappointment; not 
only did the pain in his tender left side make it 
difficult to eat the food—he was only able to eat if 820 
his whole body worked together as a snuffling 
whole—but the milk did not taste at all nice. Milk 
like this was normally his favourite drink, and his 
sister had certainly left it there for him because of 
that, but he turned, almost against his own will, 825 
away from the dish and crawled back into the 
centre of the room. 

Through the crack in the door, Gregor could 
see that the gas had been lit in the living room. His 
father at this time would normally be sat with his 830 
evening paper, reading it out in a loud voice to 
Gregor’s mother, and sometimes to his sister, but 
there was now not a sound to be heard. Gregor’s 
sister would often write and tell him about this 
reading, but maybe his father had lost the habit in 835 
recent times. It was so quiet all around too, even 



though there must have been somebody in the flat. 
“What a quiet life it is the family lead”, said Gregor 
to himself, and, gazing into the darkness, felt a 
great pride that he was able to provide a life like 840 
that in such a nice home for his sister and parents. 
But what now, if all this peace and wealth and 
comfort should come to a horrible and frightening 
end? That was something that Gregor did not want 
to think about too much, so he started to move 845 
about, crawling up and down the room. 

Once during that long evening, the door on 
one side of the room was opened very slightly and 
hurriedly closed again; later on the door on the 
other side did the same; it seemed that someone 850 
needed to enter the room but thought better of it. 
Gregor went and waited immediately by the door, 
resolved either to bring the timorous visitor into 
the room in some way or at least to find out who it 
was; but the door was opened no more that night 855 
and Gregor waited in vain. The previous morning 
while the doors were locked everyone had wanted 
to get in there to him, but now, now that he had 
opened up one of the doors and the other had 
clearly been unlocked some time during the day, 860 
no-one came, and the keys were in the other sides. 

It was not until late at night that the gaslight 
in the living room was put out, and now it was easy 
to see that his parents and sister had stayed awake 
all that time, as they all could be distinctly heard as 865 
they went away together on tip-toe. It was clear 
that no-one would come into Gregor’s room any 
more until morning; that gave him plenty of time to 
think undisturbed about how he would have to re-
arrange his life. For some reason, the tall, empty 870 
room where he was forced to remain made him 
feel uneasy as he lay there flat on the floor, even 
though he had been living in it for five years. Hardly 
aware of what he was doing other than a slight 
feeling of shame, he hurried under the couch. It 875 
pressed down on his back a little, and he was no 
longer able to lift his head, but he nonetheless felt 
immediately at ease and his only regret was that 
his body was too broad to get it all underneath. 

He spent the whole night there. Some of the 880 
time he passed in a light sleep, although he 
frequently woke from it in alarm because of his 
hunger, and some of the time was spent in worries 
and vague hopes which, however, always led to the 
same conclusion: for the time being he must 885 
remain calm, he must show patience and the 
greatest consideration so that his family could bear 
the unpleasantness that he, in his present 
condition, was forced to impose on them. 

Gregor soon had the opportunity to test the 890 
strength of his decisions, as early the next morning, 
almost before the night had ended, his sister, 
nearly fully dressed, opened the door from the 
front room and looked anxiously in. She did not see 
him straight away, but when she did notice him 895 
under the couch—he had to be somewhere, for 
God’s sake, he couldn’t have flown away—she was 
so shocked that she lost control of herself and 
slammed the door shut again from outside. But she 
seemed to regret her behaviour, as she opened the 900 
door again straight away and came in on tip-toe as 
if entering the room of someone seriously ill or 
even of a stranger. Gregor had pushed his head 
forward, right to the edge of the couch, and 
watched her. Would she notice that he had left the 905 
milk as it was, realise that it was not from any lack 
of hunger and bring him in some other food that 
was more suitable? If she didn’t do it herself he 
would rather go hungry than draw her attention to 
it, although he did feel a terrible urge to rush 910 
forward from under the couch, throw himself at his 
sister’s feet and beg her for something good to eat. 
However, his sister noticed the full dish 
immediately and looked at it and the few drops of 
milk splashed around it with some surprise. She 915 
immediately picked it up—using a rag, not her bare 
hands—and carried it out. Gregor was extremely 
curious as to what she would bring in its place, 
imagining the wildest possibilities, but he never 
could have guessed what his sister, in her 920 
goodness, actually did bring. In order to test his 
taste, she brought him a whole selection of things, 
all spread out on an old newspaper. There were 
old, half-rotten vegetables; bones from the evening 
meal, covered in white sauce that had gone hard; a 925 
few raisins and almonds; some cheese that Gregor 
had declared inedible two days before; a dry roll 
and some bread spread with butter and salt. As 
well as all that she had poured some water into the 
dish, which had probably been permanently set 930 
aside for Gregor’s use, and placed it beside them. 
Then, out of consideration for Gregor’s feelings, as 
she knew that he would not eat in front of her, she 
hurried out again and even turned the key in the 
lock so that Gregor would know he could make 935 
things as comfortable for himself as he liked. 
Gregor’s little legs whirred, at last he could eat. 
What’s more, his injuries must already have 
completely healed as he found no difficulty in 
moving. This amazed him, as more than a month 940 
earlier he had cut his finger slightly with a knife, he 
thought of how his finger had still hurt the day 



before yesterday. “Am I less sensitive than I used to 
be, then?”, he thought, and was already sucking 
greedily at the cheese which had immediately, 945 
almost compellingly, attracted him much more 
than the other foods on the newspaper. Quickly 
one after another, his eyes watering with pleasure, 
he consumed the cheese, the vegetables and the 
sauce; the fresh foods, on the other hand, he didn’t 950 
like at all, and even dragged the things he did want 
to eat a little way away from them because he 
couldn’t stand the smell. Long after he had finished 
eating and lay lethargic in the same place, his sister 
slowly turned the key in the lock as a sign to him 955 
that he should withdraw. He was immediately 
startled, although he had been half asleep, and he 
hurried back under the couch. But he needed great 
self-control to stay there even for the short time 
that his sister was in the room, as eating so much 960 
food had rounded out his body a little and he could 
hardly breathe in that narrow space. Half 
suffocating, he watched with bulging eyes as his 
sister unselfconsciously took a broom and swept up 
the left-overs, mixing them in with the food he had 965 
not even touched at all as if it could not be used 
any more. She quickly dropped it all into a bin, 
closed it with its wooden lid, and carried everything 
out. She had hardly turned her back before Gregor 
came out again from under the couch and 970 
stretched himself. 

This was how Gregor received his food each 
day now, once in the morning while his parents and 
the maid were still asleep, and the second time 
after everyone had eaten their meal at midday as 975 
his parents would sleep for a little while then as 
well, and Gregor’s sister would send the maid away 
on some errand. Gregor’s father and mother 
certainly did not want him to starve either, but 
perhaps it would have been more than they could 980 
stand to have any more experience of his feeding 
than being told about it, and perhaps his sister 
wanted to spare them what distress she could as 
they were indeed suffering enough. 

It was impossible for Gregor to find out what 985 
they had told the doctor and the locksmith that 
first morning to get them out of the flat. As nobody 
could understand him, nobody, not even his sister, 
thought that he could understand them, so he had 
to be content to hear his sister’s sighs and appeals 990 
to the saints as she moved about his room. It was 
only later, when she had become a little more used 
to everything—there was, of course, no question of 
her ever becoming fully used to the situation—that 
Gregor would sometimes catch a friendly 995 

comment, or at least a comment that could be 
construed as friendly. “He’s enjoyed his dinner 
today”, she might say when he had diligently 
cleared away all the food left for him, or if he left 
most of it, which slowly became more and more 1000 
frequent, she would often say, sadly, “now 
everything’s just been left there again”. 

Although Gregor wasn’t able to hear any 
news directly he did listen to much of what was 
said in the next rooms, and whenever he heard 1005 
anyone speaking he would scurry straight to the 
appropriate door and press his whole body against 
it. There was seldom any conversation, especially at 
first, that was not about him in some way, even if 
only in secret. For two whole days, all the talk at 1010 
every mealtime was about what they should do 
now; but even between meals they spoke about 
the same subject as there were always at least two 
members of the family at home—nobody wanted 
to be at home by themselves and it was out of the 1015 
question to leave the flat entirely empty. And on 
the very first day the maid had fallen to her knees 
and begged Gregor’s mother to let her go without 
delay. It was not very clear how much she knew of 
what had happened but she left within a quarter of 1020 
an hour, tearfully thanking Gregor’s mother for her 
dismissal as if she had done her an enormous 
service. She even swore emphatically not to tell 
anyone the slightest about what had happened, 
even though no-one had asked that of her. 1025 

Now Gregor’s sister also had to help his 
mother with the cooking; although that was not so 
much bother as no-one ate very much. Gregor 
often heard how one of them would unsuccessfully 
urge another to eat, and receive no more answer 1030 
than “no thanks, I’ve had enough” or something 
similar. No-one drank very much either. His sister 
would sometimes ask his father whether he would 
like a beer, hoping for the chance to go and fetch it 
herself. When his father then said nothing she 1035 
would add, so that he would not feel selfish, that 
she could send the housekeeper for it, but then his 
father would close the matter with a big, loud “No”, 
and no more would be said. 

Even before the first day had come to an end, 1040 
his father had explained to Gregor’s mother and 
sister what their finances and prospects were. Now 
and then he stood up from the table and took some 
receipt or document from the little cash box he had 
saved from his business when it had collapsed five 1045 
years earlier. Gregor heard how he opened the 
complicated lock and then closed it again after he 
had taken the item he wanted. What he heard his 



father say was some of the first good news that 
Gregor heard since he had first been incarcerated 1050 
in his room. He had thought that nothing at all 
remained from his father’s business, at least he had 
never told him anything different, and Gregor had 
never asked him about it anyway. Their business 
misfortune had reduced the family to a state of 1055 
total despair, and Gregor’s only concern at that 
time had been to arrange things so that they could 
all forget about it as quickly as possible. So then he 
started working especially hard, with a fiery vigour 
that raised him from a junior salesman to a 1060 
travelling representative almost overnight, bringing 
with it the chance to earn money in quite different 
ways. Gregor converted his success at work straight 
into cash that he could lay on the table at home for 
the benefit of his astonished and delighted family. 1065 
They had been good times and they had never 
come again, at least not with the same splendour, 
even though Gregor had later earned so much that 
he was in a position to bear the costs of the whole 
family, and did bear them. They had even got used 1070 
to it, both Gregor and the family, they took the 
money with gratitude and he was glad to provide it, 
although there was no longer much warm affection 
given in return. Gregor only remained close to his 
sister now. Unlike him, she was very fond of music 1075 
and a gifted and expressive violinist, it was his 
secret plan to send her to the conservatory next 
year even though it would cause great expense that 
would have to be made up for in some other way. 
During Gregor’s short periods in town, 1080 
conversation with his sister would often turn to the 
conservatory but it was only ever mentioned as a 
lovely dream that could never be realised. Their 
parents did not like to hear this innocent talk, but 
Gregor thought about it quite hard and decided he 1085 
would let them know what he planned with a grand 
announcement of it on Christmas day. 

That was the sort of totally pointless thing 
that went through his mind in his present state, 
pressed upright against the door and listening. 1090 
There were times when he simply became too tired 
to continue listening, when his head would fall 
wearily against the door and he would pull it up 
again with a start, as even the slightest noise he 
caused would be heard next door and they would 1095 
all go silent. “What’s that he’s doing now”, his 
father would say after a while, clearly having gone 
over to the door, and only then would the 
interrupted conversation slowly be taken up again. 

When explaining things, his father repeated 1100 
himself several times, partly because it was a long 

time since he had been occupied with these 
matters himself and partly because Gregor’s 
mother did not understand everything the first 
time. From these repeated explanations Gregor 1105 
learned, to his pleasure, that despite all their 
misfortunes there was still some money available 
from the old days. It was not a lot, but it had not 
been touched in the meantime and some interest 
had accumulated. Besides that, they had not been 1110 
using up all the money that Gregor had been 
bringing home every month, keeping only a little 
for himself, so that that, too, had been 
accumulating. Behind the door, Gregor nodded 
with enthusiasm in his pleasure at this unexpected 1115 
thrift and caution. He could actually have used this 
surplus money to reduce his father’s debt to his 
boss, and the day when he could have freed 
himself from that job would have come much 
closer, but now it was certainly better the way his 1120 
father had done things. 

This money, however, was certainly not 
enough to enable the family to live off the interest; 
it was enough to maintain them for, perhaps, one 
or two years, no more. That’s to say, it was money 1125 
that should not really be touched but set aside for 
emergencies; money to live on had to be earned. 
His father was healthy but old, and lacking in self 
confidence. During the five years that he had not 
been working—the first holiday in a life that had 1130 
been full of strain and no success—he had put on a 
lot of weight and become very slow and clumsy. 
Would Gregor’s elderly mother now have to go and 
earn money? She suffered from asthma and it was 
a strain for her just to move about the home, every 1135 
other day would be spent struggling for breath on 
the sofa by the open window. Would his sister have 
to go and earn money? She was still a child of 
seventeen, her life up till then had been very 
enviable, consisting of wearing nice clothes, 1140 
sleeping late, helping out in the business, joining in 
with a few modest pleasures and most of all playing 
the violin. Whenever they began to talk of the need 
to earn money, Gregor would always first let go of 
the door and then throw himself onto the cool, 1145 
leather sofa next to it, as he became quite hot with 
shame and regret. 

He would often lie there the whole night 
through, not sleeping a wink but scratching at the 
leather for hours on end. Or he might go to all the 1150 
effort of pushing a chair to the window, climbing up 
onto the sill and, propped up in the chair, leaning 
on the window to stare out of it. He had used to 
feel a great sense of freedom from doing this, but 



doing it now was obviously something more 1155 
remembered than experienced, as what he actually 
saw in this way was becoming less distinct every 
day, even things that were quite near; he had used 
to curse the ever-present view of the hospital 
across the street, but now he could not see it at all, 1160 
and if he had not known that he lived in 
Charlottenstrasse, which was a quiet street despite 
being in the middle of the city, he could have 
thought that he was looking out the window at a 
barren waste where the grey sky and the grey earth 1165 
mingled inseparably. His observant sister only 
needed to notice the chair twice before she would 
always push it back to its exact position by the 
window after she had tidied up the room, and even 
left the inner pane of the window open from then 1170 
on. 

If Gregor had only been able to speak to his 
sister and thank her for all that she had to do for 
him it would have been easier for him to bear it; 
but as it was it caused him pain. His sister, 1175 
naturally, tried as far as possible to pretend there 
was nothing burdensome about it, and the longer it 
went on, of course, the better she was able to do 
so, but as time went by Gregor was also able to see 
through it all so much better. It had even become 1180 
very unpleasant for him, now, whenever she 
entered the room. No sooner had she come in than 
she would quickly close the door as a precaution so 
that no-one would have to suffer the view into 
Gregor’s room, then she would go straight to the 1185 
window and pull it hurriedly open almost as if she 
were suffocating. Even if it was cold, she would stay 
at the window breathing deeply for a little while. 
She would alarm Gregor twice a day with this 
running about and noise making; he would stay 1190 
under the couch shivering the whole while, 
knowing full well that she would certainly have 
liked to spare him this ordeal, but it was impossible 
for her to be in the same room with him with the 
windows closed. 1195 

One day, about a month after Gregor’s 
transformation when his sister no longer had any 
particular reason to be shocked at his appearance, 
she came into the room a little earlier than usual 
and found him still staring out the window, 1200 
motionless, and just where he would be most 
horrible. In itself, his sister’s not coming into the 
room would have been no surprise for Gregor as it 
would have been difficult for her to immediately 
open the window while he was still there, but not 1205 
only did she not come in, she went straight back 
and closed the door behind her, a stranger would 

have thought he had threatened her and tried to 
bite her. Gregor went straight to hide himself 
under the couch, of course, but he had to wait until 1210 
midday before his sister came back and she 
seemed much more uneasy than usual. It made him 
realise that she still found his appearance 
unbearable and would continue to do so, she 
probably even had to overcome the urge to flee 1215 
when she saw the little bit of him that protruded 
from under the couch. One day, in order to spare 
her even this sight, he spent four hours carrying the 
bedsheet over to the couch on his back and 
arranged it so that he was completely covered and 1220 
his sister would not be able to see him even if she 
bent down. If she did not think this sheet was 
necessary then all she had to do was take it off 
again, as it was clear enough that it was no 
pleasure for Gregor to cut himself off so 1225 
completely. She left the sheet where it was. Gregor 
even thought he glimpsed a look of gratitude one 
time when he carefully looked out from under the 
sheet to see how his sister liked the new 
arrangement. 1230 

For the first fourteen days, Gregor’s parents 
could not bring themselves to come into the room 
to see him. He would often hear them say how they 
appreciated all the new work his sister was doing 
even though, before, they had seen her as a girl 1235 
who was somewhat useless and frequently been 
annoyed with her. But now the two of them, father 
and mother, would often both wait outside the 
door of Gregor’s room while his sister tidied up in 
there, and as soon as she went out again she would 1240 
have to tell them exactly how everything looked, 
what Gregor had eaten, how he had behaved this 
time and whether, perhaps, any slight 
improvement could be seen. His mother also 
wanted to go in and visit Gregor relatively soon but 1245 
his father and sister at first persuaded her against 
it. Gregor listened very closely to all this, and 
approved fully. Later, though, she had to be held 
back by force, which made her call out: “Let me go 
and see Gregor, he is my unfortunate son! Can’t 1250 
you understand I have to see him?”, and Gregor 
would think to himself that maybe it would be 
better if his mother came in, not every day of 
course, but one day a week, perhaps; she could 
understand everything much better than his sister 1255 
who, for all her courage, was still just a child after 
all, and really might not have had an adult’s 
appreciation of the burdensome job she had taken 
on. 



Gregor’s wish to see his mother was soon 1260 
realised. Out of consideration for his parents, 
Gregor wanted to avoid being seen at the window 
during the day, the few square meters of the floor 
did not give him much room to crawl about, it was 
hard to just lie quietly through the night, his food 1265 
soon stopped giving him any pleasure at all, and so, 
to entertain himself, he got into the habit of 
crawling up and down the walls and ceiling. He was 
especially fond of hanging from the ceiling; it was 
quite different from lying on the floor; he could 1270 
breathe more freely; his body had a light swing to 
it; and up there, relaxed and almost happy, it might 
happen that he would surprise even himself by 
letting go of the ceiling and landing on the floor 
with a crash. But now, of course, he had far better 1275 
control of his body than before and, even with a fall 
as great as that, caused himself no damage. Very 
soon his sister noticed Gregor’s new way of 
entertaining himself—he had, after all, left traces of 
the adhesive from his feet as he crawled about—1280 
and got it into her head to make it as easy as 
possible for him by removing the furniture that got 
in his way, especially the chest of drawers and the 
desk. Now, this was not something that she would 
be able to do by herself; she did not dare to ask for 1285 
help from her father; the sixteen year old maid had 
carried on bravely since the cook had left but she 
certainly would not have helped in this, she had 
even asked to be allowed to keep the kitchen 
locked at all times and never to have to open the 1290 
door unless it was especially important; so his sister 
had no choice but to choose some time when 
Gregor’s father was not there and fetch his mother 
to help her. As she approached the room, Gregor 
could hear his mother express her joy, but once at 1295 
the door she went silent. First, of course, his sister 
came in and looked round to see that everything in 
the room was alright; and only then did she let her 
mother enter. Gregor had hurriedly pulled the 
sheet down lower over the couch and put more 1300 
folds into it so that everything really looked as if it 
had just been thrown down by chance. Gregor also 
refrained, this time, from spying out from under 
the sheet; he gave up the chance to see his mother 
until later and was simply glad that she had come. 1305 
“You can come in, he can’t be seen”, said his sister, 
obviously leading her in by the hand. The old chest 
of drawers was too heavy for a pair of feeble 
women to be heaving about, but Gregor listened as 
they pushed it from its place, his sister always 1310 
taking on the heaviest part of the work for herself 
and ignoring her mother’s warnings that she would 

strain herself. This lasted a very long time. After 
labouring at it for fifteen minutes or more his 
mother said it would be better to leave the chest 1315 
where it was, for one thing it was too heavy for 
them to get the job finished before Gregor’s father 
got home and leaving it in the middle of the room it 
would be in his way even more, and for another 
thing it wasn’t even sure that taking the furniture 1320 
away would really be any help to him. She thought 
just the opposite; the sight of the bare walls 
saddened her right to her heart; and why wouldn’t 
Gregor feel the same way about it, he’d been used 
to this furniture in his room for a long time and it 1325 
would make him feel abandoned to be in an empty 
room like that. Then, quietly, almost whispering as 
if wanting Gregor (whose whereabouts she did not 
know) to hear not even the tone of her voice, as 
she was convinced that he did not understand her 1330 
words, she added “and by taking the furniture 
away, won’t it seem like we’re showing that we’ve 
given up all hope of improvement and we’re 
abandoning him to cope for himself? I think it’d be 
best to leave the room exactly the way it was 1335 
before so that when Gregor comes back to us again 
he’ll find everything unchanged and he’ll be able to 
forget the time in between all the easier”. 

Hearing these words from his mother made 
Gregor realise that the lack of any direct human 1340 
communication, along with the monotonous life led 
by the family during these two months, must have 
made him confused—he could think of no other 
way of explaining to himself why he had seriously 
wanted his room emptied out. Had he really 1345 
wanted to transform his room into a cave, a warm 
room fitted out with the nice furniture he had 
inherited? That would have let him crawl around 
unimpeded in any direction, but it would also have 
let him quickly forget his past when he had still 1350 
been human. He had come very close to forgetting, 
and it had only been the voice of his mother, 
unheard for so long, that had shaken him out of it. 
Nothing should be removed; everything had to 
stay; he could not do without the good influence 1355 
the furniture had on his condition; and if the 
furniture made it difficult for him to crawl about 
mindlessly that was not a loss but a great 
advantage. 

His sister, unfortunately, did not agree; she 1360 
had become used to the idea, not without reason, 
that she was Gregor’s spokesman to his parents 
about the things that concerned him. This meant 
that his mother’s advice now was sufficient reason 
for her to insist on removing not only the chest of 1365 



drawers and the desk, as she had thought at first, 
but all the furniture apart from the all-important 
couch. It was more than childish perversity, of 
course, or the unexpected confidence she had 
recently acquired, that made her insist; she had 1370 
indeed noticed that Gregor needed a lot of room to 
crawl about in, whereas the furniture, as far as 
anyone could see, was of no use to him at all. Girls 
of that age, though, do become enthusiastic about 
things and feel they must get their way whenever 1375 
they can. Perhaps this was what tempted Grete to 
make Gregor’s situation seem even more shocking 
than it was so that she could do even more for him. 
Grete would probably be the only one who would 
dare enter a room dominated by Gregor crawling 1380 
about the bare walls by himself. 

So she refused to let her mother dissuade 
her. Gregor’s mother already looked uneasy in his 
room, she soon stopped speaking and helped 
Gregor’s sister to get the chest of drawers out with 1385 
what strength she had. The chest of drawers was 
something that Gregor could do without if he had 
to, but the writing desk had to stay. Hardly had the 
two women pushed the chest of drawers, groaning, 
out of the room than Gregor poked his head out 1390 
from under the couch to see what he could do 
about it. He meant to be as careful and considerate 
as he could, but, unfortunately, it was his mother 
who came back first while Grete in the next room 
had her arms round the chest, pushing and pulling 1395 
at it from side to side by herself without, of course, 
moving it an inch. His mother was not used to the 
sight of Gregor, he might have made her ill, so 
Gregor hurried backwards to the far end of the 
couch. In his startlement, though, he was not able 1400 
to prevent the sheet at its front from moving a 
little. It was enough to attract his mother’s 
attention. She stood very still, remained there a 
moment, and then went back out to Grete. 

Gregor kept trying to assure himself that 1405 
nothing unusual was happening, it was just a few 
pieces of furniture being moved after all, but he 
soon had to admit that the women going to and 
fro, their little calls to each other, the scraping of 
the furniture on the floor, all these things made 1410 
him feel as if he were being assailed from all sides. 
With his head and legs pulled in against him and his 
body pressed to the floor, he was forced to admit 
to himself that he could not stand all of this much 
longer. They were emptying his room out; taking 1415 
away everything that was dear to him; they had 
already taken out the chest containing his fretsaw 
and other tools; now they threatened to remove 

the writing desk with its place clearly worn into the 
floor, the desk where he had done his homework as 1420 
a business trainee, at high school, even while he 
had been at infant school—he really could not wait 
any longer to see whether the two women’s 
intentions were good. He had nearly forgotten they 
were there anyway, as they were now too tired to 1425 
say anything while they worked and he could only 
hear their feet as they stepped heavily on the floor. 

So, while the women were leant against the 
desk in the other room catching their breath, he 
sallied out, changed direction four times not 1430 
knowing what he should save first before his 
attention was suddenly caught by the picture on 
the wall—which was already denuded of 
everything else that had been on it—of the lady 
dressed in copious fur. He hurried up onto the 1435 
picture and pressed himself against its glass, it held 
him firmly and felt good on his hot belly. This 
picture at least, now totally covered by Gregor, 
would certainly be taken away by no-one. He 
turned his head to face the door into the living 1440 
room so that he could watch the women when they 
came back. 

They had not allowed themselves a long rest 
and came back quite soon; Grete had put her arm 
around her mother and was nearly carrying her. 1445 
“What shall we take now, then?”, said Grete and 
looked around. Her eyes met those of Gregor on 
the wall. Perhaps only because her mother was 
there, she remained calm, bent her face to her so 
that she would not look round and said, albeit 1450 
hurriedly and with a tremor in her voice: “Come on, 
let’s go back in the living room for a while?” Gregor 
could see what Grete had in mind, she wanted to 
take her mother somewhere safe and then chase 
him down from the wall. Well, she could certainly 1455 
try it! He sat unyielding on his picture. He would 
rather jump at Grete’s face. 

But Grete’s words had made her mother 
quite worried, she stepped to one side, saw the 
enormous brown patch against the flowers of the 1460 
wallpaper, and before she even realised it was 
Gregor that she saw screamed: “Oh God, oh God!” 
Arms outstretched, she fell onto the couch as if she 
had given up everything and stayed there 
immobile. “Gregor!” shouted his sister, glowering 1465 
at him and shaking her fist. That was the first word 
she had spoken to him directly since his 
transformation. She ran into the other room to 
fetch some kind of smelling salts to bring her 
mother out of her faint; Gregor wanted to help 1470 
too—he could save his picture later, although he 



stuck fast to the glass and had to pull himself off by 
force; then he, too, ran into the next room as if he 
could advise his sister like in the old days; but he 
had to just stand behind her doing nothing; she was 1475 
looking into various bottles, he startled her when 
she turned round; a bottle fell to the ground and 
broke; a splinter cut Gregor’s face, some kind of 
caustic medicine splashed all over him; now, 
without delaying any longer, Grete took hold of all 1480 
the bottles she could and ran with them in to her 
mother; she slammed the door shut with her foot. 
So now Gregor was shut out from his mother, who, 
because of him, might be near to death; he could 
not open the door if he did not want to chase his 1485 
sister away, and she had to stay with his mother; 
there was nothing for him to do but wait; and, 
oppressed with anxiety and self-reproach, he began 
to crawl about, he crawled over everything, walls, 
furniture, ceiling, and finally in his confusion as the 1490 
whole room began to spin around him he fell down 
into the middle of the dinner table. 

He lay there for a while, numb and immobile, 
all around him it was quiet, maybe that was a good 
sign. Then there was someone at the door. The 1495 
maid, of course, had locked herself in her kitchen 
so that Grete would have to go and answer it. His 
father had arrived home. “What’s happened?” 
were his first words; Grete’s appearance must have 
made everything clear to him. She answered him 1500 
with subdued voice, and openly pressed her face 
into his chest: “Mother’s fainted, but she’s better 
now. Gregor got out.” “Just as I expected”, said his 
father, “just as I always said, but you women 
wouldn’t listen, would you.” It was clear to Gregor 1505 
that Grete had not said enough and that his father 
took it to mean that something bad had happened, 
that he was responsible for some act of violence. 
That meant Gregor would now have to try to calm 
his father, as he did not have the time to explain 1510 
things to him even if that had been possible. So he 
fled to the door of his room and pressed himself 
against it so that his father, when he came in from 
the hall, could see straight away that Gregor had 
the best intentions and would go back into his 1515 
room without delay, that it would not be necessary 
to drive him back but that they had only to open 
the door and he would disappear. 

His father, though, was not in the mood to 
notice subtleties like that; “Ah!”, he shouted as he 1520 
came in, sounding as if he were both angry and 
glad at the same time. Gregor drew his head back 
from the door and lifted it towards his father. He 
really had not imagined his father the way he stood 

there now; of late, with his new habit of crawling 1525 
about, he had neglected to pay attention to what 
was going on the rest of the flat the way he had 
done before. He really ought to have expected 
things to have changed, but still, still, was that 
really his father? The same tired man as used to be 1530 
laying there entombed in his bed when Gregor 
came back from his business trips, who would 
receive him sitting in the armchair in his nightgown 
when he came back in the evenings; who was 
hardly even able to stand up but, as a sign of his 1535 
pleasure, would just raise his arms and who, on the 
couple of times a year when they went for a walk 
together on a Sunday or public holiday wrapped up 
tightly in his overcoat between Gregor and his 
mother, would always labour his way forward a 1540 
little more slowly than them, who were already 
walking slowly for his sake; who would place his 
stick down carefully and, if he wanted to say 
something would invariably stop and gather his 
companions around him. He was standing up 1545 
straight enough now; dressed in a smart blue 
uniform with gold buttons, the sort worn by the 
employees at the banking institute; above the high, 
stiff collar of the coat his strong double-chin 
emerged; under the bushy eyebrows, his piercing, 1550 
dark eyes looked out fresh and alert; his normally 
unkempt white hair was combed down painfully 
close to his scalp. He took his cap, with its gold 
monogram from, probably, some bank, and threw 
it in an arc right across the room onto the sofa, put 1555 
his hands in his trouser pockets, pushing back the 
bottom of his long uniform coat, and, with look of 
determination, walked towards Gregor. He 
probably did not even know himself what he had in 
mind, but nonetheless lifted his feet unusually high. 1560 
Gregor was amazed at the enormous size of the 
soles of his boots, but wasted no time with that—
he knew full well, right from the first day of his new 
life, that his father thought it necessary to always 
be extremely strict with him. And so he ran up to 1565 
his father, stopped when his father stopped, 
scurried forwards again when he moved, even 
slightly. In this way they went round the room 
several times without anything decisive happening, 
without even giving the impression of a chase as 1570 
everything went so slowly. Gregor remained all this 
time on the floor, largely because he feared his 
father might see it as especially provoking if he fled 
onto the wall or ceiling. Whatever he did, Gregor 
had to admit that he certainly would not be able to 1575 
keep up this running about for long, as for each 
step his father took he had to carry out countless 



movements. He became noticeably short of breath, 
even in his earlier life his lungs had not been very 
reliable. Now, as he lurched about in his efforts to 1580 
muster all the strength he could for running he 
could hardly keep his eyes open; his thoughts 
became too slow for him to think of any other way 
of saving himself than running; he almost forgot 
that the walls were there for him to use although, 1585 
here, they were concealed behind carefully carved 
furniture full of notches and protrusions—then, 
right beside him, lightly tossed, something flew 
down and rolled in front of him. It was an apple; 
then another one immediately flew at him; Gregor 1590 
froze in shock; there was no longer any point in 
running as his father had decided to bombard him. 
He had filled his pockets with fruit from the bowl 
on the sideboard and now, without even taking the 
time for careful aim, threw one apple after 1595 
another. These little, red apples rolled about on the 
floor, knocking into each other as if they had 
electric motors. An apple thrown without much 
force glanced against Gregor’s back and slid off 
without doing any harm. Another one however, 1600 
immediately following it, hit squarely and lodged in 
his back; Gregor wanted to drag himself away, as if 
he could remove the surprising, the incredible pain 
by changing his position; but he felt as if nailed to 
the spot and spread himself out, all his senses in 1605 
confusion. The last thing he saw was the door of his 
room being pulled open, his sister was screaming, 
his mother ran out in front of her in her blouse (as 
his sister had taken off some of her clothes after 
she had fainted to make it easier for her to 1610 
breathe), she ran to his father, her skirts 
unfastened and sliding one after another to the 
ground, stumbling over the skirts she pushed 
herself to his father, her arms around him, uniting 
herself with him totally—now Gregor lost his ability 1615 
to see anything—her hands behind his father’s 
head begging him to spare Gregor’s life. 

 
* * * 

 
PART 3 

 
No-one dared to remove the apple lodged in 

Gregor’s flesh, so it remained there as a visible 1620 
reminder of his injury. He had suffered it there for 
more than a month, and his condition seemed 
serious enough to remind even his father that 
Gregor, despite his current sad and revolting form, 
was a family member who could not be treated as 1625 
an enemy. On the contrary, as a family there was a 

duty to swallow any revulsion for him and to be 
patient, just to be patient. 

Because of his injuries, Gregor had lost much 
of his mobility—probably permanently. He had 1630 
been reduced to the condition of an ancient invalid 
and it took him long, long minutes to crawl across 
his room—crawling over the ceiling was out of the 
question—but this deterioration in his condition 
was fully (in his opinion) made up for by the door 1635 
to the living room being left open every evening. 
He got into the habit of closely watching it for one 
or two hours before it was opened and then, lying 
in the darkness of his room where he could not be 
seen from the living room, he could watch the 1640 
family in the light of the dinner table and listen to 
their conversation—with everyone’s permission, in 
a way, and thus quite differently from before. 

They no longer held the lively conversations 
of earlier times, of course, the ones that Gregor 1645 
always thought about with longing when he was 
tired and getting into the damp bed in some small 
hotel room. All of them were usually very quiet 
nowadays. Soon after dinner, his father would go to 
sleep in his chair; his mother and sister would urge 1650 
each other to be quiet; his mother, bent deeply 
under the lamp, would sew fancy underwear for a 
fashion shop; his sister, who had taken a sales job, 
learned shorthand and French in the evenings so 
that she might be able to get a better position later 1655 
on. Sometimes his father would wake up and say to 
Gregor’s mother “you’re doing so much sewing 
again today!”, as if he did not know that he had 
been dozing—and then he would go back to sleep 
again while mother and sister would exchange a 1660 
tired grin. 

With a kind of stubbornness, Gregor’s father 
refused to take his uniform off even at home; while 
his nightgown hung unused on its peg Gregor’s 
father would slumber where he was, fully dressed, 1665 
as if always ready to serve and expecting to hear 
the voice of his superior even here. The uniform 
had not been new to start with, but as a result of 
this it slowly became even shabbier despite the 
efforts of Gregor’s mother and sister to look after 1670 
it. Gregor would often spend the whole evening 
looking at all the stains on this coat, with its gold 
buttons always kept polished and shiny, while the 
old man in it would sleep, highly uncomfortable but 
peaceful. 1675 

As soon as it struck ten, Gregor’s mother 
would speak gently to his father to wake him and 
try to persuade him to go to bed, as he couldn’t 
sleep properly where he was and he really had to 



get his sleep if he was to be up at six to get to work. 1680 
But since he had been in work he had become 
more obstinate and would always insist on staying 
longer at the table, even though he regularly fell 
asleep and it was then harder than ever to 
persuade him to exchange the chair for his bed. 1685 
Then, however much mother and sister would 
importune him with little reproaches and warnings 
he would keep slowly shaking his head for a 
quarter of an hour with his eyes closed and refusing 
to get up. Gregor’s mother would tug at his sleeve, 1690 
whisper endearments into his ear, Gregor’s sister 
would leave her work to help her mother, but 
nothing would have any effect on him. He would 
just sink deeper into his chair. Only when the two 
women took him under the arms he would abruptly 1695 
open his eyes, look at them one after the other and 
say: “What a life! This is what peace I get in my old 
age!” And supported by the two women he would 
lift himself up carefully as if he were carrying the 
greatest load himself, let the women take him to 1700 
the door, send them off and carry on by himself 
while Gregor’s mother would throw down her 
needle and his sister her pen so that they could run 
after his father and continue being of help to him. 

Who, in this tired and overworked family, 1705 
would have had time to give more attention to 
Gregor than was absolutely necessary? The 
household budget became even smaller; so now 
the maid was dismissed; an enormous, thick-boned 
charwoman with white hair that flapped around 1710 
her head came every morning and evening to do 
the heaviest work; everything else was looked after 
by Gregor’s mother on top of the large amount of 
sewing work she did. Gregor even learned, listening 
to the evening conversation about what price they 1715 
had hoped for, that several items of jewellery 
belonging to the family had been sold, even though 
both mother and sister had been very fond of 
wearing them at functions and celebrations. But 
the loudest complaint was that although the flat 1720 
was much too big for their present circumstances, 
they could not move out of it, there was no 
imaginable way of transferring Gregor to the new 
address. He could see quite well, though, that there 
were more reasons than consideration for him that 1725 
made it difficult for them to move, it would have 
been quite easy to transport him in any suitable 
crate with a few air holes in it; the main thing 
holding the family back from their decision to move 
was much more to do with their total despair, and 1730 
the thought that they had been struck with a 
misfortune unlike anything experienced by anyone 

else they knew or were related to. They carried out 
absolutely everything that the world expects from 
poor people, Gregor’s father brought bank 1735 
employees their breakfast, his mother sacrificed 
herself by washing clothes for strangers, his sister 
ran back and forth behind her desk at the behest of 
the customers, but they just did not have the 
strength to do any more. And the injury in Gregor’s 1740 
back began to hurt as much as when it was new. 
After they had come back from taking his father to 
bed Gregor’s mother and sister would now leave 
their work where it was and sit close together, 
cheek to cheek; his mother would point to Gregor’s 1745 
room and say “Close that door, Grete”, and then, 
when he was in the dark again, they would sit in 
the next room and their tears would mingle, or 
they would simply sit there staring dry-eyed at the 
table. 1750 

Gregor hardly slept at all, either night or day. 
Sometimes he would think of taking over the 
family’s affairs, just like before, the next time the 
door was opened; he had long forgotten about his 
boss and the chief clerk, but they would appear 1755 
again in his thoughts, the salesmen and the 
apprentices, that stupid teaboy, two or three 
friends from other businesses, one of the 
chambermaids from a provincial hotel, a tender 
memory that appeared and disappeared again, a 1760 
cashier from a hat shop for whom his attention had 
been serious but too slow,—all of them appeared 
to him, mixed together with strangers and others 
he had forgotten, but instead of helping him and 
his family they were all of them inaccessible, and 1765 
he was glad when they disappeared. Other times 
he was not at all in the mood to look after his 
family, he was filled with simple rage about the lack 
of attention he was shown, and although he could 
think of nothing he would have wanted, he made 1770 
plans of how he could get into the pantry where he 
could take all the things he was entitled to, even if 
he was not hungry. Gregor’s sister no longer 
thought about how she could please him but would 
hurriedly push some food or other into his room 1775 
with her foot before she rushed out to work in the 
morning and at midday, and in the evening she 
would sweep it away again with the broom, 
indifferent as to whether it had been eaten or—
more often than not—had been left totally 1780 
untouched. She still cleared up the room in the 
evening, but now she could not have been any 
quicker about it. Smears of dirt were left on the 
walls, here and there were little balls of dust and 
filth. At first, Gregor went into one of the worst of 1785 



these places when his sister arrived as a reproach 
to her, but he could have stayed there for weeks 
without his sister doing anything about it; she could 
see the dirt as well as he could but she had simply 
decided to leave him to it. At the same time she 1790 
became touchy in a way that was quite new for her 
and which everyone in the family understood—
cleaning up Gregor’s room was for her and her 
alone. Gregor’s mother did once thoroughly clean 
his room, and needed to use several bucketfuls of 1795 
water to do it—although that much dampness also 
made Gregor ill and he lay flat on the couch, bitter 
and immobile. But his mother was to be punished 
still more for what she had done, as hardly had his 
sister arrived home in the evening than she noticed 1800 
the change in Gregor’s room and, highly aggrieved, 
ran back into the living room where, despite her 
mothers raised and imploring hands, she broke into 
convulsive tears. Her father, of course, was startled 
out of his chair and the two parents looked on 1805 
astonished and helpless; then they, too, became 
agitated; Gregor’s father, standing to the right of 
his mother, accused her of not leaving the cleaning 
of Gregor’s room to his sister; from her left, 
Gregor’s sister screamed at her that she was never 1810 
to clean Gregor’s room again; while his mother 
tried to draw his father, who was beside himself 
with anger, into the bedroom; his sister, quaking 
with tears, thumped on the table with her small 
fists; and Gregor hissed in anger that no-one had 1815 
even thought of closing the door to save him the 
sight of this and all its noise. 

Gregor’s sister was exhausted from going out 
to work, and looking after Gregor as she had done 
before was even more work for her, but even so his 1820 
mother ought certainly not to have taken her place. 
Gregor, on the other hand, ought not to be 
neglected. Now, though, the charwoman was here. 
This elderly widow, with a robust bone structure 
that made her able to withstand the hardest of 1825 
things in her long life, wasn’t really repelled by 
Gregor. Just by chance one day, rather than any 
real curiosity, she opened the door to Gregor’s 
room and found herself face to face with him. He 
was taken totally by surprise, no-one was chasing 1830 
him but he began to rush to and fro while she just 
stood there in amazement with her hands crossed 
in front of her. From then on she never failed to 
open the door slightly every evening and morning 
and look briefly in on him. At first she would call to 1835 
him as she did so with words that she probably 
considered friendly, such as “come on then, you old 
dung-beetle!”, or “look at the old dung-beetle 

there!” Gregor never responded to being spoken to 
in that way, but just remained where he was 1840 
without moving as if the door had never even been 
opened. If only they had told this charwoman to 
clean up his room every day instead of letting her 
disturb him for no reason whenever she felt like it! 
One day, early in the morning while a heavy rain 1845 
struck the windowpanes, perhaps indicating that 
spring was coming, she began to speak to him in 
that way once again. Gregor was so resentful of it 
that he started to move toward her, he was slow 
and infirm, but it was like a kind of attack. Instead 1850 
of being afraid, the charwoman just lifted up one of 
the chairs from near the door and stood there with 
her mouth open, clearly intending not to close her 
mouth until the chair in her hand had been 
slammed down into Gregor’s back. “Aren’t you 1855 
coming any closer, then?”, she asked when Gregor 
turned round again, and she calmly put the chair 
back in the corner. 

Gregor had almost entirely stopped eating. 
Only if he happened to find himself next to the 1860 
food that had been prepared for him he might take 
some of it into his mouth to play with it, leave it 
there a few hours and then, more often than not, 
spit it out again. At first he thought it was distress 
at the state of his room that stopped him eating, 1865 
but he had soon got used to the changes made 
there. They had got into the habit of putting things 
into this room that they had no room for anywhere 
else, and there were now many such things as one 
of the rooms in the flat had been rented out to 1870 
three gentlemen. These earnest gentlemen—all 
three of them had full beards, as Gregor learned 
peering through the crack in the door one day—
were painfully insistent on things’ being tidy. This 
meant not only in their own room but, since they 1875 
had taken a room in this establishment, in the 
entire flat and especially in the kitchen. 
Unnecessary clutter was something they could not 
tolerate, especially if it was dirty. They had 
moreover brought most of their own furnishings 1880 
and equipment with them. For this reason, many 
things had become superfluous which, although 
they could not be sold, the family did not wish to 
discard. All these things found their way into 
Gregor’s room. The dustbins from the kitchen 1885 
found their way in there too. The charwoman was 
always in a hurry, and anything she couldn’t use for 
the time being she would just chuck in there. He, 
fortunately, would usually see no more than the 
object and the hand that held it. The woman most 1890 
likely meant to fetch the things back out again 



when she had time and the opportunity, or to 
throw everything out in one go, but what actually 
happened was that they were left where they 
landed when they had first been thrown unless 1895 
Gregor made his way through the junk and moved 
it somewhere else. At first he moved it because, 
with no other room free where he could crawl 
about, he was forced to, but later on he came to 
enjoy it although moving about in that way left him 1900 
sad and tired to death, and he would remain 
immobile for hours afterwards. 

The gentlemen who rented the room would 
sometimes take their evening meal at home in the 
living room that was used by everyone, and so the 1905 
door to this room was often kept closed in the 
evening. But Gregor found it easy to give up having 
the door open, he had, after all, often failed to 
make use of it when it was open and, without the 
family having noticed it, lain in his room in its 1910 
darkest corner. One time, though, the charwoman 
left the door to the living room slightly open, and it 
remained open when the gentlemen who rented 
the room came in in the evening and the light was 
put on. They sat up at the table where, formerly, 1915 
Gregor had taken his meals with his father and 
mother, they unfolded the serviettes and picked up 
their knives and forks. Gregor’s mother 
immediately appeared in the doorway with a dish 
of meat and soon behind her came his sister with a 1920 
dish piled high with potatoes. The food was 
steaming, and filled the room with its smell. The 
gentlemen bent over the dishes set in front of them 
as if they wanted to test the food before eating it, 
and the gentleman in the middle, who seemed to 1925 
count as an authority for the other two, did indeed 
cut off a piece of meat while it was still in its dish, 
clearly wishing to establish whether it was 
sufficiently cooked or whether it should be sent 
back to the kitchen. It was to his satisfaction, and 1930 
Gregor’s mother and sister, who had been looking 
on anxiously, began to breathe again and smiled. 

The family themselves ate in the kitchen. 
Nonetheless, Gregor’s father came into the living 
room before he went into the kitchen, bowed once 1935 
with his cap in his hand and did his round of the 
table. The gentlemen stood as one, and mumbled 
something into their beards. Then, once they were 
alone, they ate in near perfect silence. It seemed 
remarkable to Gregor that above all the various 1940 
noises of eating their chewing teeth could still be 
heard, as if they had wanted to show Gregor that 
you need teeth in order to eat and it was not 
possible to perform anything with jaws that are 

toothless however nice they might be. “I’d like to 1945 
eat something”, said Gregor anxiously, “but not 
anything like they’re eating. They do feed 
themselves. And here I am, dying!” 

Throughout all this time, Gregor could not 
remember having heard the violin being played, 1950 
but this evening it began to be heard from the 
kitchen. The three gentlemen had already finished 
their meal, the one in the middle had produced a 
newspaper, given a page to each of the others, and 
now they leant back in their chairs reading them 1955 
and smoking. When the violin began playing they 
became attentive, stood up and went on tip-toe 
over to the door of the hallway where they stood 
pressed against each other. Someone must have 
heard them in the kitchen, as Gregor’s father called 1960 
out: “Is the playing perhaps unpleasant for the 
gentlemen? We can stop it straight away.” “On the 
contrary”, said the middle gentleman, “would the 
young lady not like to come in and play for us here 
in the room, where it is, after all, much more cosy 1965 
and comfortable?” “Oh yes, we’d love to”, called 
back Gregor’s father as if he had been the violin 
player himself. The gentlemen stepped back into 
the room and waited. Gregor’s father soon 
appeared with the music stand, his mother with the 1970 
music and his sister with the violin. She calmly 
prepared everything for her to begin playing; his 
parents, who had never rented a room out before 
and therefore showed an exaggerated courtesy 
towards the three gentlemen, did not even dare to 1975 
sit on their own chairs; his father leant against the 
door with his right hand pushed in between two 
buttons on his uniform coat; his mother, though, 
was offered a seat by one of the gentlemen and 
sat—leaving the chair where the gentleman 1980 
happened to have placed it—out of the way in a 
corner. 

His sister began to play; father and mother 
paid close attention, one on each side, to the 
movements of her hands. Drawn in by the playing, 1985 
Gregor had dared to come forward a little and 
already had his head in the living room. Before, he 
had taken great pride in how considerate he was 
but now it hardly occurred to him that he had 
become so thoughtless about the others. What’s 1990 
more, there was now all the more reason to keep 
himself hidden as he was covered in the dust that 
lay everywhere in his room and flew up at the 
slightest movement; he carried threads, hairs, and 
remains of food about on his back and sides; he 1995 
was much too indifferent to everything now to lay 
on his back and wipe himself on the carpet like he 



had used to do several times a day. And despite 
this condition, he was not too shy to move forward 
a little onto the immaculate floor of the living 2000 
room. 

No-one noticed him, though. The family was 
totally preoccupied with the violin playing; at first, 
the three gentlemen had put their hands in their 
pockets and come up far too close behind the 2005 
music stand to look at all the notes being played, 
and they must have disturbed Gregor’s sister, but 
soon, in contrast with the family, they withdrew 
back to the window with their heads sunk and 
talking to each other at half volume, and they 2010 
stayed by the window while Gregor’s father 
observed them anxiously. It really now seemed 
very obvious that they had expected to hear some 
beautiful or entertaining violin playing but had 
been disappointed, that they had had enough of 2015 
the whole performance and it was only now out of 
politeness that they allowed their peace to be 
disturbed. It was especially unnerving, the way they 
all blew the smoke from their cigarettes upwards 
from their mouth and noses. Yet Gregor’s sister 2020 
was playing so beautifully. Her face was leant to 
one side, following the lines of music with a careful 
and melancholy expression. Gregor crawled a little 
further forward, keeping his head close to the 
ground so that he could meet her eyes if the 2025 
chance came. Was he an animal if music could 
captivate him so? It seemed to him that he was 
being shown the way to the unknown nourishment 
he had been yearning for. He was determined to 
make his way forward to his sister and tug at her 2030 
skirt to show her she might come into his room 
with her violin, as no-one appreciated her playing 
here as much as he would. He never wanted to let 
her out of his room, not while he lived, anyway; his 
shocking appearance should, for once, be of some 2035 
use to him; he wanted to be at every door of his 
room at once to hiss and spit at the attackers; his 
sister should not be forced to stay with him, 
though, but stay of her own free will; she would sit 
beside him on the couch with her ear bent down to 2040 
him while he told her how he had always intended 
to send her to the conservatory, how he would 
have told everyone about it last Christmas—had 
Christmas really come and gone already?—if this 
misfortune hadn’t got in the way, and refuse to let 2045 
anyone dissuade him from it. On hearing all this, his 
sister would break out in tears of emotion, and 
Gregor would climb up to her shoulder and kiss her 
neck, which, since she had been going out to work, 
she had kept free without any necklace or collar. 2050 

“Mr. Samsa!”, shouted the middle gentleman 
to Gregor’s father, pointing, without wasting any 
more words, with his forefinger at Gregor as he 
slowly moved forward. The violin went silent, the 
middle of the three gentlemen first smiled at his 2055 
two friends, shaking his head, and then looked back 
at Gregor. His father seemed to think it more 
important to calm the three gentlemen before 
driving Gregor out, even though they were not at 
all upset and seemed to think Gregor was more 2060 
entertaining than the violin playing had been. He 
rushed up to them with his arms spread out and 
attempted to drive them back into their room at 
the same time as trying to block their view of 
Gregor with his body. Now they did become a little 2065 
annoyed, and it was not clear whether it was his 
father’s behaviour that annoyed them or the 
dawning realisation that they had had a neighbour 
like Gregor in the next room without knowing it. 
They asked Gregor’s father for explanations, raised 2070 
their arms like he had, tugged excitedly at their 
beards and moved back towards their room only 
very slowly. Meanwhile Gregor’s sister had 
overcome the despair she had fallen into when her 
playing was suddenly interrupted. She had let her 2075 
hands drop and let violin and bow hang limply for a 
while but continued to look at the music as if still 
playing, but then she suddenly pulled herself 
together, lay the instrument on her mother’s lap 
who still sat laboriously struggling for breath where 2080 
she was, and ran into the next room which, under 
pressure from her father, the three gentlemen 
were more quickly moving toward. Under his 
sister’s experienced hand, the pillows and covers 
on the beds flew up and were put into order and 2085 
she had already finished making the beds and 
slipped out again before the three gentlemen had 
reached the room. Gregor’s father seemed so 
obsessed with what he was doing that he forgot all 
the respect he owed to his tenants. He urged them 2090 
and pressed them until, when he was already at the 
door of the room, the middle of the three 
gentlemen shouted like thunder and stamped his 
foot and thereby brought Gregor’s father to a halt. 
“I declare here and now”, he said, raising his hand 2095 
and glancing at Gregor’s mother and sister to gain 
their attention too, “that with regard to the 
repugnant conditions that prevail in this flat and 
with this family”—here he looked briefly but 
decisively at the floor—“I give immediate notice on 2100 
my room. For the days that I have been living here I 
will, of course, pay nothing at all, on the contrary I 
will consider whether to proceed with some kind of 



action for damages from you, and believe me it 
would be very easy to set out the grounds for such 2105 
an action.” He was silent and looked straight ahead 
as if waiting for something. And indeed, his two 
friends joined in with the words: “And we also give 
immediate notice.” With that, he took hold of the 
door handle and slammed the door. 2110 

Gregor’s father staggered back to his seat, 
feeling his way with his hands, and fell into it; it 
looked as if he was stretching himself out for his 
usual evening nap but from the uncontrolled way 
his head kept nodding it could be seen that he was 2115 
not sleeping at all. Throughout all this, Gregor had 
lain still where the three gentlemen had first seen 
him. His disappointment at the failure of his plan, 
and perhaps also because he was weak from 
hunger, made it impossible for him to move. He 2120 
was sure that everyone would turn on him any 
moment, and he waited. He was not even startled 
out of this state when the violin on his mother’s lap 
fell from her trembling fingers and landed loudly on 
the floor. 2125 

“Father, Mother”, said his sister, hitting the 
table with her hand as introduction, “we can’t carry 
on like this. Maybe you can’t see it, but I can. I 
don’t want to call this monster my brother, all I can 
say is: we have to try and get rid of it. We’ve done 2130 
all that’s humanly possible to look after it and be 
patient, I don’t think anyone could accuse us of 
doing anything wrong.” 

“She’s absolutely right”, said Gregor’s father 
to himself. His mother, who still had not had time 2135 
to catch her breath, began to cough dully, her hand 
held out in front of her and a deranged expression 
in her eyes. 

Gregor’s sister rushed to his mother and put 
her hand on her forehead. Her words seemed to 2140 
give Gregor’s father some more definite ideas. He 
sat upright, played with his uniform cap between 
the plates left by the three gentlemen after their 
meal, and occasionally looked down at Gregor as 
he lay there immobile. 2145 

“We have to try and get rid of it”, said 
Gregor’s sister, now speaking only to her father, as 
her mother was too occupied with coughing to 
listen, “it’ll be the death of both of you, I can see it 
coming. We can’t all work as hard as we have to 2150 
and then come home to be tortured like this, we 
can’t endure it. I can’t endure it any more.” And 
she broke out so heavily in tears that they flowed 
down the face of her mother, and she wiped them 
away with mechanical hand movements. 2155 

“My child”, said her father with sympathy 
and obvious understanding, “what are we to do?” 

His sister just shrugged her shoulders as a 
sign of the helplessness and tears that had taken 
hold of her, displacing her earlier certainty. 2160 

“If he could just understand us”, said his 
father almost as a question; his sister shook her 
hand vigorously through her tears as a sign that of 
that there was no question. 

“If he could just understand us”, repeated 2165 
Gregor’s father, closing his eyes in acceptance of 
his sister’s certainty that that was quite impossible, 
“then perhaps we could come to some kind of 
arrangement with him. But as it is ...” 

“It’s got to go”, shouted his sister, “that’s the 2170 
only way, Father. You’ve got to get rid of the idea 
that that’s Gregor. We’ve only harmed ourselves by 
believing it for so long. How can that be Gregor? If 
it were Gregor he would have seen long ago that 
it’s not possible for human beings to live with an 2175 
animal like that and he would have gone of his own 
free will. We wouldn’t have a brother any more, 
then, but we could carry on with our lives and 
remember him with respect. As it is this animal is 
persecuting us, it’s driven out our tenants, it 2180 
obviously wants to take over the whole flat and 
force us to sleep on the streets. Father, look, just 
look”, she suddenly screamed, “he’s starting 
again!” In her alarm, which was totally beyond 
Gregor’s comprehension, his sister even 2185 
abandoned his mother as she pushed herself 
vigorously out of her chair as if more willing to 
sacrifice her own mother than stay anywhere near 
Gregor. She rushed over to behind her father, who 
had become excited merely because she was and 2190 
stood up half raising his hands in front of Gregor’s 
sister as if to protect her. 

But Gregor had had no intention of 
frightening anyone, least of all his sister. All he had 
done was begin to turn round so that he could go 2195 
back into his room, although that was in itself quite 
startling as his pain-wracked condition meant that 
turning round required a great deal of effort and he 
was using his head to help himself do it, repeatedly 
raising it and striking it against the floor. He 2200 
stopped and looked round. They seemed to have 
realised his good intention and had only been 
alarmed briefly. Now they all looked at him in 
unhappy silence. His mother lay in her chair with 
her legs stretched out and pressed against each 2205 
other, her eyes nearly closed with exhaustion; his 
sister sat next to his father with her arms around 
his neck. 



“Maybe now they’ll let me turn round”, 
thought Gregor and went back to work. He could 2210 
not help panting loudly with the effort and had 
sometimes to stop and take a rest. No-one was 
making him rush any more, everything was left up 
to him. As soon as he had finally finished turning 
round he began to move straight ahead. He was 2215 
amazed at the great distance that separated him 
from his room, and could not understand how he 
had covered that distance in his weak state a little 
while before and almost without noticing it. He 
concentrated on crawling as fast as he could and 2220 
hardly noticed that there was not a word, not any 
cry, from his family to distract him. He did not turn 
his head until he had reached the doorway. He did 
not turn it all the way round as he felt his neck 
becoming stiff, but it was nonetheless enough to 2225 
see that nothing behind him had changed, only his 
sister had stood up. With his last glance he saw that 
his mother had now fallen completely asleep. 

He was hardly inside his room before the 
door was hurriedly shut, bolted and locked. The 2230 
sudden noise behind Gregor so startled him that his 
little legs collapsed under him. It was his sister who 
had been in so much of a rush. She had been 
standing there waiting and sprung forward lightly, 
Gregor had not heard her coming at all, and as she 2235 
turned the key in the lock she said loudly to her 
parents “At last!”. 

“What now, then?”, Gregor asked himself as 
he looked round in the darkness. He soon made the 
discovery that he could no longer move at all. This 2240 
was no surprise to him, it seemed rather that being 
able to actually move around on those spindly little 
legs until then was unnatural. He also felt relatively 
comfortable. It is true that his entire body was 
aching, but the pain seemed to be slowly getting 2245 
weaker and weaker and would finally disappear 
altogether. He could already hardly feel the 
decayed apple in his back or the inflamed area 
around it, which was entirely covered in white dust. 
He thought back of his family with emotion and 2250 
love. If it was possible, he felt that he must go away 
even more strongly than his sister. He remained in 
this state of empty and peaceful rumination until 
he heard the clock tower strike three in the 
morning. He watched as it slowly began to get light 2255 
everywhere outside the window too. Then, without 
his willing it, his head sank down completely, and 
his last breath flowed weakly from his nostrils. 

When the cleaner came in early in the 
morning—they’d often asked her not to keep 2260 
slamming the doors but with her strength and in 

her hurry she still did, so that everyone in the flat 
knew when she’d arrived and from then on it was 
impossible to sleep in peace—she made her usual 
brief look in on Gregor and at first found nothing 2265 
special. She thought he was laying there so still on 
purpose, playing the martyr; she attributed all 
possible understanding to him. She happened to be 
holding the long broom in her hand, so she tried to 
tickle Gregor with it from the doorway. When she 2270 
had no success with that she tried to make a 
nuisance of herself and poked at him a little, and 
only when she found she could shove him across 
the floor with no resistance at all did she start to 
pay attention. She soon realised what had really 2275 
happened, opened her eyes wide, whistled to 
herself, but did not waste time to yank open the 
bedroom doors and shout loudly into the darkness 
of the bedrooms: “Come and ’ave a look at this, it’s 
dead, just lying there, stone dead!” 2280 

Mr. and Mrs. Samsa sat upright there in their 
marriage bed and had to make an effort to get over 
the shock caused by the cleaner before they could 
grasp what she was saying. But then, each from his 
own side, they hurried out of bed. Mr. Samsa threw 2285 
the blanket over his shoulders, Mrs. Samsa just 
came out in her nightdress; and that is how they 
went into Gregor’s room. On the way they opened 
the door to the living room where Grete had been 
sleeping since the three gentlemen had moved in; 2290 
she was fully dressed as if she had never been 
asleep, and the paleness of her face seemed to 
confirm this. “Dead?”, asked Mrs. Samsa, looking at 
the charwoman enquiringly, even though she could 
have checked for herself and could have known it 2295 
even without checking. “That’s what I said”, replied 
the cleaner, and to prove it she gave Gregor’s body 
another shove with the broom, sending it sideways 
across the floor. Mrs. Samsa made a movement as 
if she wanted to hold back the broom, but did not 2300 
complete it. “Now then”, said Mr. Samsa, “let’s give 
thanks to God for that”. He crossed himself, and 
the three women followed his example. Grete, who 
had not taken her eyes from the corpse, said: “Just 
look how thin he was. He didn’t eat anything for so 2305 
long. The food came out again just the same as 
when it went in”. Gregor’s body was indeed 
completely dried up and flat, they had not seen it 
until then, but now he was not lifted up on his little 
legs, nor did he do anything to make them look 2310 
away. 

“Grete, come with us in here for a little 
while”, said Mrs. Samsa with a pained smile, and 
Grete followed her parents into the bedroom but 



not without looking back at the body. The cleaner 2315 
shut the door and opened the window wide. 
Although it was still early in the morning the fresh 
air had something of warmth mixed in with it. It 
was already the end of March, after all. 

The three gentlemen stepped out of their 2320 
room and looked round in amazement for their 
breakfasts; they had been forgotten about. “Where 
is our breakfast?”, the middle gentleman asked the 
cleaner irritably. She just put her finger on her lips 
and made a quick and silent sign to the men that 2325 
they might like to come into Gregor’s room. They 
did so, and stood around Gregor’s corpse with their 
hands in the pockets of their well-worn coats. It 
was now quite light in the room. 

Then the door of the bedroom opened and 2330 
Mr. Samsa appeared in his uniform with his wife on 
one arm and his daughter on the other. All of them 
had been crying a little; Grete now and then 
pressed her face against her father’s arm. 

“Leave my home. Now!”, said Mr. Samsa, 2335 
indicating the door and without letting the women 
from him. “What do you mean?”, asked the middle 
of the three gentlemen somewhat disconcerted, 
and he smiled sweetly. The other two held their 
hands behind their backs and continually rubbed 2340 
them together in gleeful anticipation of a loud 
quarrel which could only end in their favour. “I 
mean just what I said”, answered Mr. Samsa, and, 
with his two companions, went in a straight line 
towards the man. At first, he stood there still, 2345 
looking at the ground as if the contents of his head 
were rearranging themselves into new positions. 
“Alright, we’ll go then”, he said, and looked up at 
Mr. Samsa as if he had been suddenly overcome 
with humility and wanted permission again from 2350 
Mr. Samsa for his decision. Mr. Samsa merely 
opened his eyes wide and briefly nodded to him 
several times. At that, and without delay, the man 
actually did take long strides into the front hallway; 
his two friends had stopped rubbing their hands 2355 
some time before and had been listening to what 
was being said. Now they jumped off after their 
friend as if taken with a sudden fear that Mr. Samsa 
might go into the hallway in front of them and 
break the connection with their leader. Once there, 2360 
all three took their hats from the stand, took their 
sticks from the holder, bowed without a word and 
left the premises. Mr. Samsa and the two women 
followed them out onto the landing; but they had 
had no reason to mistrust the men’s intentions and 2365 
as they leaned over the landing they saw how the 
three gentlemen made slow but steady progress 

down the many steps. As they turned the corner on 
each floor they disappeared and would reappear a 
few moments later; the further down they went, 2370 
the more that the Samsa family lost interest in 
them; when a butcher’s boy, proud of posture with 
his tray on his head, passed them on his way up 
and came nearer than they were, Mr. Samsa and 
the women came away from the landing and went, 2375 
as if relieved, back into the flat. 

They decided the best way to make use of 
that day was for relaxation and to go for a walk; not 
only had they earned a break from work but they 
were in serious need of it. So they sat at the table 2380 
and wrote three letters of excusal, Mr. Samsa to his 
employers, Mrs. Samsa to her contractor and Grete 
to her principal. The cleaner came in while they 
were writing to tell them she was going, she’d 
finished her work for that morning. The three of 2385 
them at first just nodded without looking up from 
what they were writing, and it was only when the 
cleaner still did not seem to want to leave that they 
looked up in irritation. “Well?”, asked Mr. Samsa. 
The charwoman stood in the doorway with a smile 2390 
on her face as if she had some tremendous good 
news to report, but would only do it if she was 
clearly asked to. The almost vertical little ostrich 
feather on her hat, which had been a source of 
irritation to Mr. Samsa all the time she had been 2395 
working for them, swayed gently in all directions. 
“What is it you want then?”, asked Mrs. Samsa, 
whom the cleaner had the most respect for. “Yes”, 
she answered, and broke into a friendly laugh that 
made her unable to speak straight away, “well 2400 
then, that thing in there, you needn’t worry about 
how you’re going to get rid of it. That’s all been 
sorted out.” Mrs. Samsa and Grete bent down over 
their letters as if intent on continuing with what 
they were writing; Mr. Samsa saw that the cleaner 2405 
wanted to start describing everything in detail but, 
with outstretched hand, he made it quite clear that 
she was not to. So, as she was prevented from 
telling them all about it, she suddenly remembered 
what a hurry she was in and, clearly peeved, called 2410 
out “Cheerio then, everyone”, turned round 
sharply and left, slamming the door terribly as she 
went. 

“Tonight she gets sacked”, said Mr. Samsa, 
but he received no reply from either his wife or his 2415 
daughter as the charwoman seemed to have 
destroyed the peace they had only just gained. 
They got up and went over to the window where 
they remained with their arms around each other. 
Mr. Samsa twisted round in his chair to look at 2420 



them and sat there watching for a while. Then he 
called out: “Come here, then. Let’s forget about all 
that old stuff, shall we. Come and give me a bit of 
attention”. The two women immediately did as he 
said, hurrying over to him where they kissed him 2425 
and hugged him and then they quickly finished 
their letters. 

After that, the three of them left the flat 
together, which was something they had not done 
for months, and took the tram out to the open 2430 
country outside the town. They had the tram, filled 
with warm sunshine, all to themselves. Leant back 
comfortably on their seats, they discussed their 
prospects and found that on closer examination 
they were not at all bad—until then they had never 2435 
asked each other about their work but all three had 
jobs which were very good and held particularly 
good promise for the future. The greatest 
improvement for the time being, of course, would 
be achieved quite easily by moving house; what 2440 
they needed now was a flat that was smaller and 
cheaper than the current one which had been 
chosen by Gregor, one that was in a better location 
and, most of all, more practical. All the time, Grete 
was becoming livelier. With all the worry they had 2445 
been having of late her cheeks had become pale, 
but, while they were talking, Mr. and Mrs. Samsa 
were struck, almost simultaneously, with the 
thought of how their daughter was blossoming into 
a well built and beautiful young lady. They became 2450 
quieter. Just from each other’s glance and almost 
without knowing it they agreed that it would soon 
be time to find a good man for her. And, as if in 
confirmation of their new dreams and good 
intentions, as soon as they reached their 2455 
destination Grete was the first to get up and 
stretch out her young body. 
 
  



1. What is the purpose of the third paragraph 
(lines 23 through 25). 

A. To describe the opening scene and Gregor’s 
attempt to fall back asleep and forget what 
was happening. 

B. To create a metaphor for the kind of life 
Gregor leads and the state of his person. 

C. To hint at what is to come in the rest of the 
narrative. 

D. To describe, using colorful imagery, the 
state in which Gregor finds himself.  

 
2. At about what time did Gregor finally get out of 
bed on the first morning of his transformation? 

A. 6:30 AM 
B. 6:45 AM 
C. 7:00 AM 
D. 7:15 AM 

 
3. With what was Gregor entrusted by his 
employer? 

A. A new product prototype 
B. A list of new clients 
C. A box of valuable products 
D. Some money 

 
4. As used in line 571, the word “façade” most 
nearly means 

A. Face 
B. Front 
C. Appearance 
D. Falsehood 

 
5. Before being a traveling salesman, Gregor was 
which of the following? 

A. An inventor working for a German firm 
B. A doctor for the hospital across the street 

from his family’s apartment 
C. A lieutenant in the German army 
D. A teacher at a local high school. 

 
6. The paragraph from lines 588 to 629 serves to 

A. Demonstrate Gregor’s work-ethic and 
overwhelming responsibility as provider for 
his family 

B. Demonstrate Gregor’s perspicacity in his 
observations about the nature of work 

C. Allude to the counterpoint between 
Gregor’s work, family life, and his present 
condition. 

D. Allude to the lies Gregor is telling his 
employer about the things that were 
entrusted to him. 

 
7. As used in line 853, the word “timorous” most 
nearly means. 

A. temporal 
B. timbral 
C. timid 
D. tinctorial 

 
8. The furniture in Gregor’s rooms takes upon 
itself the symbol of Gregor’s 

A. hope 
B. humanity 
C. family 
D. imprisonment 

 
9. Of all the pieces of furniture in Gregor’s room, 
Gregor most wanted to save which piece of 
furniture? 

A. A picture hanging on the wall 
B. His writing desk where he used to work 
C. The sofa under which he hid 
D. His dresser of clothing and possessions 

 
10. In this narrative, Gregor’s room and its doors 
are symbolic of his person and the self-locked, 
unlocked, and other-locked nature of those doors 
suggests the human need to be understood, cared 
for, and empathized with. Given this analysis, 
what do you think Franz Kafka means to suggest 
by the actions of Gregor’s family. 

A. That if one sincerely opens themself up to 
others that they can find acceptance, self-
respect, and validation. 

B. That by opening ourselves up to our family 
and others, we can help everyone actualize 
their full potential and become productive 
members of society. 

C. That through the rot we bring upon 
ourselves, we will reap the just rewards of 
our miserly and selfish lifestyles.  

D. That despite one’s willingness to open up to 
the people around them, the world would 
often rather not be bothered to empathize 
with the suffering of others.  

 
11. Which of the following sets of lines best gives 
evidence to the interpretation from above? 

A. Lines 114 through 155. 
B. Lines 852 through 861. 
C. Lines 1172 through 1195. 
D. Lines 2438 through 2477. 

 



12. By the standards of modern American society, 
Gregor’s condition and his family’s reaction to it 
could best be thought of as a metaphor for all of 
the following EXCEPT 

A. A child coming out as homosexual or 
transgender in a conservative household 

B. The homeless that wander the streets of 
American cities and the average American’s 
behavior towards them. 

C. A someone with a serious illness, like 
cancer, that cannot be transmitted or 
treated and a family’s struggle to cope with 
this tragedy. 

D. Someone with non-neurotypical behaviors, 
such as Autism, Down Syndrome, 
dementia, or Alzheimer’s and society’s 
behavior towards such individuals. 


